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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Good morning.

          3  My name is Miguel Martinez, and I am the Chair of

          4  the Fire and Criminal Justice Services Committee.

          5                 We are here this morning to conduct a

          6  joint oversight hearing regarding New York City

          7  subway emergency evacuation plans, protocol and

          8  procedures.

          9                 I am joined by my Co-chairs for this

         10  hearing, Council Member John Liu, Chair of the

         11  Transportation Committee, and Council Member Peter

         12  Vallone, Jr., Chair of the Public Safety Committee.

         13                 I want to thank both of them for

         14  their effort in putting together this hearing, and

         15  for the attention they have given to this important

         16  issue in the past.

         17                 We will hear shortly from

         18  representatives of the New York City Fire

         19  Department, Police Department, as well as the Office

         20  of Emergency Management, and the Metropolitan

         21  Transportation Authority.

         22                 Before we hear from those agencies, I

         23  would like to make some brief remarks.

         24                 The New York City subway system has

         25  468 subway stations, with 26 routes, and 660 miles
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          2  of track for passenger services.  The MTA estimates

          3  that on any given weekday, approximately 4.7 million

          4  passengers use the subway system.

          5                 Naturally a system that large, there

          6  is at a given time a portion of the system that

          7  needs to be evacuated. Although, by and large, those

          8  evacuations are done without much fanfare, there

          9  have been instances that has given rise to concern.

         10                 While there has always been fear of

         11  an attack on the subway, those fears were heightened

         12  post- 9/11, and are renewed whenever there is an

         13  attempted attack on the City's subway, uncovered or

         14  when an attack is carried out abroad on subways or

         15  rail systems, as well as cases in Moscow, Spain in

         16  2004, and London in 2005.

         17                 Whether or not it is the result of an

         18  attack, any large scale evacuation of the subway

         19  system presents a myriad of challenges.  We want to

         20  make sure that the MTA and the New York City first

         21  responders, responsible for evacuating the subways,

         22  are prepared to respond to any incident from a track

         23  fire to a nuclear attack.  We want to ensure that

         24  our first responders know what their respective

         25  roles are, that they are trained independently and
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          2  collectively, and that they have a plan of action

          3  for any scenario, and that they have to proper

          4  equipment and access to the system, and that they

          5  have an effective method of communicating with each

          6  other, and with passengers to ensure a safe and

          7  speedy evacuation.

          8                 I look forward to the testimony we

          9  are about to hear, and working collectively to

         10  ensure that New York City subway riders are as safe

         11  as possible.

         12                 I believe that both of my Co-chairs

         13  have an opening remark, and I will turn to Council

         14  Member John Liu, Chair of the Transportation

         15  Committee for his statement.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Chairman

         17  Martinez.

         18                 My name is John Liu, I have the

         19  privilege of chairing the Transportation Committee

         20  here in the City Council, and I am delighted to

         21  co-chair this joint hearing with the chairman of our

         22  Fire and Criminal Justices' Committee, Miguel

         23  Martinez, and with Peter Vallone, the chair of our

         24  Safety Committee, Public Safety Committee with whom

         25  the Transportation Committee has already convened in
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          2  the past hearings, joint hearings, concerning safety

          3  in our subway and mass transit system.

          4                 I think Miguel Martinez already spoke

          5  about this at length.  The bottom line is that for

          6  many years now, we realize that New York City is on

          7  the front lines of this war against terrorism, and

          8  that the transit system is, as we have seen time and

          9  time again in other cities throughout the world, a

         10  ripe target for those who would cause mass harm and

         11  damage.             That's all the more reason why

         12  we need to have very tight communications in the

         13  subway system from the MTA, as well as with the

         14  emergency services.  So, that is why we continue

         15  this series of hearings.

         16                 In October of 2006, we had convened a

         17  hearing with the MTA to understand from the MTA

         18  officials what exactly happened last July and August

         19  where there were evacuations of subway cars, and

         20  passengers taken out onto the tracks to be lead to

         21  safety.

         22                 In September of 2005, we had another

         23  hearing of communications during emergencies.  Both

         24  of those hearings, the Transportation Committee had

         25  been left with lingering questions, and we hope to
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          2  have some of those questions, or hopefully, most of

          3  those questions answered today now that we have a

          4  vast array of Administration and MTA officials.

          5                 What happened last summer is not an

          6  isolated incident.  It is indicative of the urgency

          7  with which we must have communications,

          8  communications between the MTA and the police and

          9  fire departments, as  well as communications between

         10  the MTA and the passengers.  Part of the problem

         11  last summer was that despite the fact that everybody

         12  was evacuated safely, there was a huge amount of

         13  anxiety on the part of the passengers, given that

         14  there were heightened terror alerts, and that people

         15  have no idea what was happening.  So communications

         16  with passengers as well as the police and fire

         17  departments is very critical.

         18                 Two weeks ago, maybe three weeks ago

         19  at this point, the state's Transportation Safety

         20  Board issued a report that concluded that what

         21  happened last summer was a result of poor

         22  communications between the emergency services and

         23  the MTA, and disturbingly enough, that state report

         24  concluded that passengers were possibly, and

         25  unnecessarily, put at risk because of a lack of
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          2  tight coordination between the MTA and the agencies.

          3                 So, it is imperative that we

          4  understand exactly what is happening and what the

          5  plans are to tighten up the coordination so that in

          6  this day and age, passengers and the public at large

          7  can feel as safe as possible.

          8                 With that, I would like to turn it

          9  over to our Co chair, Peter Vallone, Jr., the

         10  Chairman of our Public Safety Committee.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.  Let

         12  me join my colleagues in welcoming you all to this

         13  joint hearing.  It is a honor to work with Miguel

         14  Martinez and John Liu on this very important issue.

         15                 After 9/11, and since the

         16  international attacks in the subways in Tokyo,

         17  Moscow, London, Madrid, and Gambia and Bombay,

         18  anyone who rides the subways is acutely aware of the

         19  possibility of attack, and the chaos and loss of

         20  life that might ensue. Clearly, we must do

         21  everything we can to effectively prepare for such an

         22  event.

         23                 I believe our new State Homeland

         24  Chair, Michael Balboni, said that it's not a

         25  question of `if', it's a question of `when' our
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          2  subways will be attacked, and I agree completely

          3  with that sentiment.  Obviously this Body is charged

          4  with oversight of this important issue, and that's

          5  what we intend to do today.

          6                 You've already heard from my

          7  colleagues regarding the structure of the hearing,

          8  and different issues which will come up.

          9                 There are two issues that I will

         10  focus on, I'm sure my co-chairs will ably handle

         11  them and many, many others. The first issue is

         12  police communication on the ground.  This has been a

         13  very big issue since 9/11.  It's one of the most

         14  criticized and publicized failures after 9/11, and

         15  that's the radio communication.  Over the last ten

         16  years, the MTA has spent $140 million to develop and

         17  install a new citywide radio system that would allow

         18  underground transit workers and emergency operation

         19  personnel, such as police, to communicate with

         20  officers on the streets.  This system, however,

         21  apparently remains hindered by widespread

         22  interference, to the point that the NYPD refuses to

         23  even use it.  Thus today, six years later, and $140

         24  million later, we still are lacking an adequate,

         25  reliable system of radio communication.
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          2                 The second issue that I am going to

          3  address is something that's been a pet peeve, or

          4  more than a peeve, of mine for some time now, and

          5  that's the issue of HEET gates, high entrance and

          6  exit turnstiles.  For those of you who don't know

          7  what they are, those are the floor- to- ceiling-

          8  type turnstiles that are used to get in and out of

          9  the subway system, much like an Iron Maiden they've

         10  been called, at best, they are slow and difficult to

         11  use.  If you have a stroller or packages, almost

         12  impossible.  I have said many times that they would

         13  most certainly operate as death traps in the event

         14  of an emergency on the ground.

         15                 Since April of 2005, I have been

         16  writing letters to the MTA, and many times joined by

         17  my co-chairs, especially John Liu, regarding these

         18  HEET gates, and asking for their removal, and asking

         19  for an explanation as to how they could possibly be

         20  justified after 9/11.  Basically, what happened

         21  after we began a letter writing campaign in 2005, is

         22  without a response to us, they MTA  --  first let me

         23  explain, the first letter we wrote not only

         24  criticized the HEET gates, but in conjunction with

         25  the HEET gates, they had emergency exits which were
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          2  locked, which is an oxymoron if I've ever heard one;

          3  locked emergency gates.

          4                 So apparently, unable to justify

          5  this, they began a program of putting panic bars on

          6  the emergency gates.  In addition, rather than

          7  actually answer, which they did eventually, they ran

          8  to the Department of State to get a variance for

          9  the, at least, nine complete violations of the State

         10  Fire Code that these HEET gates pose.  Of course,

         11  the Department of State in a secret, illegal

         12  proceeding, then granted variances for the HEET

         13  gates. So, it's inexcusable. It's wholly

         14  unacceptable that these gates would have gone up in

         15  complete violation of our Fire Code, that they would

         16  have then run for a variance in a secret proceeding,

         17  and that they've made public pronouncements that

         18  they intend to put up more HEET gates, as opposed to

         19  eliminating these HEET gates.  Inexcusable that in

         20  this day and age they MTA's priority is stopping

         21  fare beating, as opposed to the public safety of our

         22  riders.

         23                 So those are the two issues I'm going

         24  to focus on, and I've gone on long enough, but I

         25  want to, again, thank my co chairs.
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          2                 I will introduce the council members

          3  we've been joined by, Vincent Gentile, Tony Avella,

          4  Joe Addabbo, Melinda Katz, Larry Seabrook, Darlene

          5  Mealy, Simcha Felder and I believe that's everyone.

          6                 With that being said, let me turn it

          7  back over to Miguel Martinez to begin the hearing.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you

          9  council member.

         10                 Several hearings we had before and

         11  some of the issues that you bring up, in terms of

         12  communication, of the NYPD and the underground, I

         13  would also start my line of questioning to the Fire

         14  Department, in terms if you could give us any

         15  updates in terms of the communication in the subway

         16  system, particularly to the repeater issue that we

         17  mentioned once at one of our hearings, and we were

         18  discussing has there been any improvement in terms

         19  of the ability of the Fire Department to communicate

         20  in the subway underground?

         21                 Can you please identify yourself

         22  before you testify?

         23                 MR. ESPOSITO:  My name is Assistant

         24  Chief James Esposito.  I am assigned to operations.

         25  I am the Bronx Borough Commander.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Yes.

          3                 MR. ESPOSITO:  To answer your

          4  question, with respect to the repeater system--

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I don't intend

          6  for you to really respond.  I know you have written

          7  testimony.

          8                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes I do, would you

          9  like to hear it?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Yes.

         11                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Okay, fine.

         12                 Good morning Chairs Martinez, Liu and

         13  Vallone, and committee members.

         14                 I am New York City Fire Department

         15  Assistant Chief James Esposito.  Thank you for the

         16  opportunity to speak to you about the Department's

         17  planning for response to transit system emergencies.

         18                 As first responders to fires, medical

         19  emergencies, disasters and terrorist acts, Fire

         20  Department, Firefighters, EMT's and Paramedics

         21  protect the lives and property of New York City

         22  residents and visitors.  The delivery of these

         23  services from time to time involves the Fire

         24  Department responding to subway stations, subway

         25  tunnels and other subterranean parts of the New York
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          2  City transit system, including all City subways, the

          3  Long Island Railroad, Metro- North, New Jersey

          4  Transit, PATH and Amtrak.

          5                 FDNY personnel are trained and

          6  equipped to gain access to the transit system in

          7  several ways.  If Firefighters or EMS personnel are

          8  responding to an emergency in a subway station that

          9  is staffed with a station agent, that agent can

         10  easily provide personnel with access through gates

         11  leading to the platforms.  If Firefighters enter a

         12  subway station where there is no station agent, but

         13  there is a HEET, a High Exit Entry Turnstile,

         14  Firefighters can utilize a specialized key issued to

         15  each company officer to gain access.  The Department

         16  has similar key access to Metro-North, Long Island

         17  Railroad, New Jersey Transit, PATH and Amtrak trains

         18  and tunnels in New York City.

         19                 Emergency responders can also access

         20  the subway through MetroCards issued by the New York

         21  City Transit Authority in 2005 to the Departments

         22  apparatus, including all ambulances in the 911

         23  system, engines, ladders, rescue companies and

         24  squads. Unlike the regular Metrocards, the fire

         25  department Metrocards have unrestricted access to
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          2  all City subways, allowing multiple, consecutive

          3  swipes without delay.

          4                 In the training and preparedness

          5  arena, being able to access the scene of an

          6  emergency is only the first step.  All Fire and EMS

          7  field personnel are trained to respond to the

          8  variety of emergencies that can occur in the subway

          9  system.

         10                 A state- of- the- art subway

         11  simulator at the fire departments Randall's Island

         12  training academy has been in use since September

         13  2005 for training all firefighting units, and

         14  incoming probationary firefighter classes throughout

         15  the year. To supplement this training, firefighting

         16  units are also provided with familiarization

         17  training at subway stations within the areas they

         18  serve and conduct emergency exit inspections of

         19  these stations two times a year.

         20                 Additionally, the Department works

         21  directly with the transit agencies to develop

         22  training specific to each of those agencies'

         23  systems, and provides fire personnel with

         24  specialized training applicable to the stations and

         25  systems in their response areas.
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          2                 Fire Department officers are

          3  specifically trained to handle the challenges of

          4  managing emergency response to subway incidents.  At

          5  the Department's Fort Totten training facility, fire

          6  officers conduct site- specific tabletop exercises

          7  focusing on the incident command and management

          8  skills needed for emergency response to subway and

          9  other transportation system related incidents.  The

         10  Fire Department has a trained exercise design team.

         11                 The Department provides EMS field

         12  personnel with subway- specific training.  At the

         13  EMS training academy, all EMT's and Paramedics study

         14  track safety, including important safety procedures

         15  that all emergency medical professionals must know

         16  when responding to incidents in the subway.  EMT's

         17  and Paramedics participate in drills on the

         18  Department's subway simulator during their HazMat

         19  awareness training.  This not only prepares them to

         20  respond in the event of a HazMat incident, but also

         21  increases their familiarity and preparedness for

         22  non- HazMat emergencies in the subway.

         23                 In addition, the trainees at the EMS

         24  academy receive special "lift and carries" training,

         25  which requires them to learn how to lift and carry
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          2  patients in chairs, stretchers, and backboards up a

          3  series of stairwells in the academy's three story

          4  training facility.

          5                 Throughout the year, the Fire

          6  Department conducts and participates in a number of

          7  interagency training exercises. Together with the

          8  New York City Police Department, the Office of

          9  Emergency Management, the MTA police and others, we

         10  work to further train and familiarize personnel with

         11  emergency response procedures in the City's subways

         12  and railroads.  These exercises have included:  A

         13  multi- agency response to the explosion of a train

         14  car in Maspeth, Queens, which was organized by OEM

         15  in March 2006.  This exercise scenario included a

         16  possible chemical release during the explosion; two

         17  simulated station bombings in Jamaica, Queens, each

         18  with numerous casualties and significant damage to

         19  the surrounding area; another two exercises in April

         20  2005 simulating a Madrid- style, rush hour train

         21  bombing.  The first took place at the Atlantic

         22  Avenue Station in Brooklyn, and the second at

         23  Jamaica Station in Queens.

         24                 In addition to the drills and

         25  training with the transit agencies, the Fire
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          2  Department is developing new equipment and

          3  technology that will assist our personnel in

          4  responding to transit emergencies as efficiently and

          5  effectively as possible.

          6                 In 2006, the Department ordered 17

          7  Nolan Model ATS-1 non-motorized carts to transport

          8  tolls and equipment to the scene of  any tunnel

          9  incident, as well as to assist in the removal of

         10  incapacitated patients from the scene.  This is a

         11  light- weight mobile cart that used existing rails

         12  on the existing track bed.  The Department is

         13  working with the manufacturer and the transit

         14  agencies in New York City to develop modifications

         15  to these pilot models in order to make them more

         16  efficient for our use.  We have conducted several

         17  successful tests of these carts and their

         18  modifications, and look forward to finalizing the

         19  design in the near future.

         20                 Once the design is finalized, we will

         21  purchase additional units to outfit additional units

         22  of our special operations command, and these include

         23  some 29 of our Specialized Chemical Protective

         24  Clothing Ladder companies, as well as the two of our

         25  high- rise units.
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          2                 We are also testing a battery-

          3  powered version of this cart developed in England.

          4  We anticipate purchasing a number of these carts as

          5  well, which can pull several of the non motorized

          6  carts.  Once this ongoing project is completed and

          7  the units are deployed, it will greatly enhance our

          8  ability to safely and rapidly respond to incidents

          9  within subway tunnels.

         10                 We're also making use of the sound-

         11  powered phones that have been installed by the

         12  transit authority in 13 of the subway systems 14

         13  under- river tunnels, as well as in 153 of the

         14  approximately 465 stations in the subway system.

         15  Sound- powered phones connected to a standpipe

         16  contain electro-mechanical transducers that convert

         17  voice directly into electrical energy. They allow

         18  responders to communicate within a tunnel or between

         19  the station and the street level without the need

         20  for an external power supply.  Fire department units

         21  have been trained and equipped to use sound-powered

         22  phone systems in their areas that have these systems

         23  available, and we are continuing the process of

         24  providing all of our units with the needed training

         25  and equipment to use once these standpipe
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          2  sound-powered phones become available within the

          3  transit system.  The standpipe and the phones will

          4  greatly assist in communications, and in a more

          5  efficient fire fighting operations.

          6                 Finally, the Department has trained

          7  over 400 Fire Department members in the use of newly

          8  acquired extended- duration masks, known as re-

          9  breathers, for use in the subway system. These masks

         10  permit equipped personnel to operate in tunnels for

         11  up to four hours.

         12                 In conclusion, the Fire Department,

         13  Firefighters, and EMS personnel are highly trained

         14  and equipped to respond to transit system

         15  emergencies throughout our City.  Our Department

         16  looks forward to further enhancing our capabilities

         17  in the future through continued training and new

         18  technological initiatives.

         19                 So, thank you for allowing me this

         20  time to speak with you, and I'll be glad to answer

         21  any questions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Before we get

         23  to questions, why don't we allow the Police

         24  Department to also testify, and can someone out

         25  there actually introduce everyone who's at the table
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          2  so that we know who is available to us?

          3                 MR. KOPSTEIN:  I am Inspector Jay

          4  Kopstein.  I am from the Office of the Chief of

          5  Department.

          6                 MR. HALL:  Assistant Chief James

          7  Hall, Commanding Office of the Transit Bureau, NYPD.

          8                 MR. ESPOSITO:  As I indicated, I am

          9  Assistant Chief James Esposito, Fire Department

         10  Operations, and I have Captain Bob Weinman from the

         11  Fire Department Public Transportation Safety Unit

         12  accompanying me here today.

         13                 MR. GAIR:  Brad Gair, New York City

         14  OEM Deputy Commissioner for Operations, and I have

         15  Fred Reich (phonetic) with me, who is my Director of

         16  Response.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you all

         18  for coming in today.

         19                 MR. HALL:  Good morning Chairman

         20  Vallone, Chairman Liu, Chairman Martinez, and

         21  members of the Council.

         22                 I am Assistant Chief James Hall,

         23  Commanding Office at the NYPD's Transit Bureau.  I

         24  am joined today by Inspector Jay Kopstein of the

         25  Office of the Chief of Department.
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          2                 On behalf of Police Commissioner

          3  Raymond Kelly, we are pleased to be here today to

          4  discuss our role in subway system emergency

          5  evacuations.

          6                 The New York City subway system

          7  encompasses 468 stations and 656 miles of passenger

          8  service track, and has an average weekday ridership

          9  of 5.1 million people.  To police a system of this

         10  size and complexity, the NYPD works in close

         11  partnership with the New York City Transit and the

         12  Metropolitan Transportation Authority, and devotes

         13  significant resources specifically to police our

         14  subways.

         15                 The command within the Police

         16  Department which is primarily responsible for subway

         17  safety is the Transit Bureau, staffed by over 2,600

         18  uniformed members of the service.  Most Transit

         19  Bureau Officers are assigned to one of the Transit

         20  Bureau's 12 districts, which are similar to

         21  precincts.  For these officers, an average tour of

         22  duty is spent providing police coverage in an

         23  assignment that may include a single subway station

         24  or several adjacent stations, depending on the time

         25  of day, the number of riders using each station, and

                                                            24

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE, TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  other factors.           In general, most transit

          3  officers perform their patrol in uniform, alone and

          4  on foot.  If an assignment covers several smaller

          5  stations, the officer travels between them by train.

          6                 Subway stations vary greatly in size;

          7  those at the largest transfer points, such as Times

          8  Square or Fulton Street, may have miles of corridors

          9  and passageways, dozens of entrances, and trains

         10  coming and going on as many as four different

         11  levels. The officers more through the stations

         12  noting problems and making observations to ensure

         13  compliance with State and Local Laws as well as with

         14  New York City Transit Rules of Conduct.

         15                 Like all police, Transit Bureau

         16  officers respond to reports of crime.  The level of

         17  crime in the transit system has followed an almost

         18  uninterrupted decline since 1990, with 17,497 major

         19  felony crimes in 1990 versus 2,707 in 2006.  In

         20  2006, Transit Bureau personnel effected almost

         21  27,000 arrests and issued over 130,000 summonses and

         22  Transit Adjudication Bureau Notices of Violation.

         23                 In addition to traditional

         24  crimefighting, transit officers responded to 228,394

         25  radio calls for service last year, which included
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          2  accidents, injuries, and illnesses involving

          3  passengers.

          4                 Specialized units within the Transit

          5  Bureau also conduct homeless outreach, concentrate

          6  on acts of vandalism, and literally "walk the

          7  tracks," inspecting the emergency exits in the

          8  system's underwater tunnels.  Officers are regularly

          9  assigned to "school conditions" to keep order among

         10  the hundreds of thousands of student who daily ride

         11  the subway going to and from school.  They provide

         12  crowd control to ensure safe passenger movement

         13  during rush hours, as well as handling cases of lost

         14  children who have been separated from their parents,

         15  or inquiries from tourists or commuters who need

         16  assistance.  And, they assist in the Department's

         17  counter terrorism efforts by employing enhanced

         18  patrols and inspection of selected locations, by

         19  routine sweeps, inspecting platforms and trains for

         20  unusual conditions and suspicious packages, and by

         21  subway entrance container inspections, which now

         22  include the use of portable explosive trace

         23  detection devices.

         24                 One of the most challenging events

         25  that the Transit Bureau officers are faced with,
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          2  however, is an emergency evacuation.  If the

          3  emergency involves an immediate threat of life, such

          4  as a fire or explosion, any police officer or

          5  firefighter on the scene many commence an evacuation

          6  of passengers from a train.

          7                 More commonly, where there is no

          8  immediate threat and the emergency is reported to

          9  New York City Transit by either police officers of

         10  transit employees, the entity responsible for

         11  deciding whether evacuation is necessary is the New

         12  York City Transit Department of Subways.  Its Rail

         13  Control Center houses representatives of all of the

         14  operating departments of New York City Transit.

         15                 In addition, the NYPD Transit Bureau

         16  has two Sergeants stationed at the Rail Control

         17  center seven days a week, as well as a Transit

         18  Bureau Captain who acts as liaison, supervises the

         19  NYPD personnel, and assists in the coordination and

         20  handling of emergencies.

         21                 There are four types of train

         22  evacuations; a reach train evacuation, where another

         23  train is brought in front of or behind a stalled

         24  train, so that passengers can walk onto the reach

         25  train, which will be moved to the next station; a
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          2  rescue train evacuation, where another train is

          3  brought alongside the stalled train, and passengers

          4  are transferred to the rescue train using an

          5   "emergency evacuation device" or commonly known as

          6   "EED," a combination ladder and ramp; a "bench

          7  wall," or catwalk evacuation, where passenger

          8  evacuate onto the catwalk and are led by police to

          9  the nearest station or emergency exit; and a roadbed

         10  evacuation, the most hazardous type, used only as a

         11  last resort, where passengers are led off the

         12  stalled train from either the front or rear car,

         13  directly onto the trackway, usually by means of the

         14  ladder portion of the EED.  For the last two types

         15  of evacuations, power must be turned off prior to

         16  evacuation.

         17                 Transit Bureau officers are generally

         18  New York City Transit "Track Certified," meaning

         19  that they may safely walk the subway tracks under

         20  slow- speed train movement conditions. Transit

         21  Bureau officers are also "COBRA" trained, meaning

         22  that they have been trained regarding weapons of

         23  mass destruction and the use of personal protective

         24  equipment.  They are also fully familiar with the

         25  emergency equipment maintained in the subway system,
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          2  such as the EED's, the emergency telephone located

          3  at every "blue light" and in other locations in the

          4  system, fire extinguishers, first aid kits, and

          5  chemical "glow sticks."

          6                 They have also been issued several

          7  types of keys to be used for unlocking train doors,

          8  subway car bulkhead doors, station gates, in

          9  addition to being issued MetroCards for unimpeded

         10  access through turnstiles of all types.

         11                 When Rail Control Center personnel

         12  determine that an evacuation is necessary, they are

         13  initially responsible for coordinating all rescue

         14  efforts.  This generally involves stopping the train

         15  service, rerouting trains as needed, requesting

         16  police and fire personnel to respond to the scene,

         17  and, if necessary, removing power.  Note that the

         18  presence of police supervisors in the Center assists

         19  New York City Transit personnel in creating a

         20  coordinated, timely incident action plan.

         21                 The Rail Control Center is equipped

         22  with what is called a "6- Wire," a direct- line

         23  intercom system linking the Center to the NYPD's 911

         24  center.  New York City Transit personnel can thereby

         25  speak directly to a 911 call taker, without having
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          2  to dial 911 and being routed through the 911

          3  switchboard.  Note that the system goes both

          4  directions, so that a police radio dispatcher

          5  supervisor may also communicate directly to the

          6  Center, promoting accurate and timely information

          7  exchange between the first responders in the field

          8  and the Rail Control Center.

          9                 The 911 call taker who receives the

         10  New York City Transit request for assistance will

         11  immediately dispatch the necessary police units

         12  required.  Depending on the nature of the emergency,

         13  specialized units such as the Emergency Service Unit

         14  or the Bomb Squad may be dispatched, along with

         15  Transit Bureau personnel who will respond in every

         16  instance.  The officers arriving at the scene are

         17  guided by the Citywide Incident Management System as

         18  they establish an Incident Command Post and take the

         19  steps necessary to address the emergency, including

         20  deciding what type of evacuation should be

         21  conducted.  Police officers on the scene work with

         22  New York City Transit personnel to evacuate the

         23  passengers, advising them of the reason for the

         24  evacuation, and guiding them through the process so

         25  that they may exit in as safe and calm a manner as
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          2  possible.

          3                 Police officers will physically

          4  assist the passengers in climbing the ladder or

          5  moving from one train to another.

          6                 For evacuating disabled passengers,

          7  the Emergency Service Unit is trained in the use of

          8  specialized equipment such as backboards, EMS

          9  folding chairs, and Stokes Baskets, which are large

         10  metal- mesh baskets.  Police officers are instructed

         11  to use tact and courtesy, and avoid unnecessary

         12  forceful confrontations with passengers who resist

         13  leaving the stalled train.

         14                 Note that an evacuation may affect a

         15  few people who are unlucky enough to be in a train

         16  when it stalls between stations, or may affect

         17  thousands, who need to safely exit multiple trains.

         18  The goal is usually to remove the passengers to the

         19  nearest station or emergency exit, but if the

         20  emergency is a larger scale, dangerous condition

         21  such as a fire or smoke condition, we will ensure

         22  that the passengers as well as anyone within the

         23  immediate area is directed out to the street area.

         24                 Note that evacuation does not include

         25  what is called "passenger discharge," which occurs
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          2  when at least one train door is in the station, so

          3  the passengers may walk through the train and exit

          4  directly onto a platform.  Passenger discharge

          5  requires similar coordination of resources, but does

          6  not present the challenge that a true evacuation

          7  does.

          8                 Fortunately, evacuation is a

          9  relatively rare

         10  event  --  since 2001, there have only been 17

         11  evacuations in the system.

         12                 Even though evacuations may be rare,

         13  it is crucial that all responding agencies be

         14  prepared to work together in an evacuation scenario,

         15  especially with respect to a large scale event.  Our

         16  joint experience has demonstrated that City agencies

         17  are well trained and prepared to handle this type of

         18  emergency with a well- coordinated response, and

         19  appropriate resources, to ensure that public safety

         20  is preserved.  The agencies responsible for handling

         21  subway evacuations routinely train together and

         22  jointly with the MTA and New York City Transit.

         23                 In 2006, the NYPD participated in

         24  four such interagency drills, and will continue to

         25  do so.
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          2                 Thank you for giving us the

          3  opportunity to discuss our role in emergency

          4  evacuations in the subway system, and we will be

          5  pleased to answer any of your questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Do you have

          7  any testimony from the OEM?

          8                 MR. HALL:  New York City Office of

          9  Emergency Management did not have any testimony

         10  prepared, but they will be here to answer any

         11  questions as they do come up in the hearing.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Before we open

         13  up for questioning, I want to introduce some of my

         14  colleagues who have joined us since we opened the

         15  hearing; Council Member Gerson, Council Member

         16  Lappin, Council Member Dan Garodnick, Council Member

         17  Gioia, Council Member McMahon, and Council Member

         18  Melinda Katz, I think this is the second time we

         19  recognized Council Member Melinda Katz.

         20                 Thank you, gentlemen.

         21                 So when there is an emergency

         22  evacuation that arises or there is an evacuation

         23  that needs to take place in the subway, which agency

         24  is the one that directs and coordinates the

         25  evacuation plan?
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          2                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, under CIMS, the

          3  Fire Department who is charged with life and safety.

          4    The Fire Department would be a core- competent

          5  agency identified under CIMS to take the lead role

          6  in that regard.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So the Fire

          8  Department would be the one taking the lead in the

          9  evacuation plan?

         10                 MR. ESPOSITO:  That is correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  In terms of

         12  communication between MTA, Fire Department and

         13  Police Department, what coordination is there in

         14  place, other than the phone that you just mentioned

         15  which is news to us, and I want to go more into

         16  that?

         17                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Well at the scene of

         18  an incident emergency, we establish a unified

         19  command.  CIMS calls for a unified command.  Now

         20  once we're all on the scene talking to each other,

         21  we all have communication among each agency.  Each

         22  agency will direct their own people accordingly,

         23  using their own communication methods, but CIMS has

         24  clarified the fact that a rail incident, a subway

         25  incident is required to have a unified command, and
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          2  that's what we do.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So in the

          4  event of an evacuation, it is the Fire Department

          5  that is coordinating and directing each agency as to

          6  what procedure, what to do, and what needs to be

          7  done.

          8                 MR. ESPOSITO:  The Fire Department is

          9  establishing a unified command post, and at the

         10  unified command post decisions are made with the

         11  responsible commanders of the agencies on scene,

         12  yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So it is the

         14  Fire Department?

         15                 MR. ESPOSITO:  The Fire Department is

         16  a lead in the evacuation process, yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  In terms of

         18  the phones, I know that I mentioned earlier that we

         19  had several, in other hearings, we had several

         20  discussions in terms of the communication of the

         21  Fire Department in the tunnels, the subway system,

         22  and you highlight the fact that now you have new

         23  phones that would enable you to communicate.

         24                 How many of these phones, and how

         25  many stations do we have these phones located at?
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          2                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, there are many

          3  different methods by which we communicate in the

          4  subway systems.  We

          5  have   --  the Transit Authority are installing

          6  sound- powered phones attached to standpipe systems

          7  throughout the system right now.  These standpipe

          8  phones enable the commanders on street level to

          9  communicate with the operations chiefs who may be

         10  operating down inside the subway tunnel.  The

         11  numbers I identified previously, I think we had

         12  about 153 installed presently.  So, the 153 goes

         13  along way to assisting operations that may occur at

         14  those subway stations that have these phones

         15  installed.  It helps us out a lot.

         16                 The Fire Department also has these

         17  portable sound powered phones, where we have 300

         18  feet of wire on reels that are carried on

         19  specialized units.  Our Battalion Chiefs, our

         20  squads, our HazMat companies, we carry a number of

         21  these portable sound powered phones.  So, that can

         22  be stretched manually also.

         23                 We also have available Fire

         24  Department post radios that enable us to communicate

         25  at very high wattage, and it enables us to speak
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          2  long distances.  It helps communications on subway

          3  platforms, in subway tunnels, and is quite effective

          4  actually.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  How is the

          6  communication between the Fire Department and the

          7  MTA in terms of getting the message to passengers if

          8  there is the need for an evacuation to inform

          9  passengers that it is not a terrorist attack, that

         10  in fact, it may be a common railroad fire or so

         11  forth?

         12                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes if they send a

         13  representative to a command post in a timely

         14  fashion, we're able to obviously communicate

         15  directly with the MTA representative who would be

         16  able to provide that information to the Transit

         17  Control Center.

         18                 We also have a Battalion Chief who

         19  would act as a transit authority liaison who would

         20  respond to the Transit Control Center in the event

         21  of a fire or emergency.

         22                 So based on the information that

         23  liaison has, he could communicate directly with the

         24  dispatchers, perhaps, or the transit authority

         25  personnel in that command center.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Now this is

          3  the Chief at the command would be the one

          4  communicating with the MTA?

          5                 Did I hear that right?

          6                 MR. ESPOSITO:   No, you're asking how

          7  was information relayed to the Transit Authority.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Correct, to

          9  get to the passengers.

         10                 MR. ESPOSITO:   So, there's a number

         11  of ways for example, the transit dispatchers can

         12  obtain the information and communicate it, for

         13  example, to the motorman who would them disseminate

         14  the information to the passengers.  That is how we

         15  envision this work, and you could take it up with

         16  the Transit Authority to see if they have any

         17  additional information to provide, but that's my

         18  understanding of the communication process.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Can you give

         20  me a little more detail in terms of the new carts

         21  that you ordered?

         22                 You mentioned you already have the

         23  ones that are not motorized, and you're looking at

         24  some that will be motorized. Now, are these carts

         25  carried in the actual unit or they're placed in the
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          2  subway station at a specific location, and what is

          3  their weight?

          4                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, I've seen a power

          5  point presentation actually on it.  I don't know the

          6  exact weight. They are portable carts.  They do use

          7  existing rail, and we do plan to have our

          8  Specialized Units carry it on board, the apparatus,

          9  the fire apparatus.  I am not sure if the Fire

         10  Department has discussed this with Transit, as far

         11  as storing these carts at subway stations, so on and

         12  so forth, but --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So for now,

         14  the unit that will respond, the HazMat unit that

         15  will respond, will be the one carrying the cart to

         16  the --

         17                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, this is what we

         18  envision. These carts are being modified.  We did

         19  order 17 of them, and we do hope to have them

         20  available in short order, yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Chief, in

         22  terms of the training at the Island, you mentioned

         23  that the Fire Department trains there --

         24                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: -- with
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          2  different scenarios.

          3                 Is there any coordination between OEM

          4  and other agencies for training there, including

          5  EMS?

          6                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, as a matter of

          7  fact in 2005, the Fire Department rolled out its $8

          8  million subway simulator over on Randall's Island,

          9  and it's an incredible building.  It has a actual

         10  subway car there, and we conduct training there

         11  routinely, not only with the Fire Department,

         12  including EMT's and Paramedics, but I also believe

         13  other agencies are involved in training.

         14                 In 2006 for example, the Fire

         15  Department was involved in over ten major drills

         16  involving the Transit Authority.  Some of them

         17  involved in other police department, so on and so

         18  forth, and in 2006, we had well over 15 transit-

         19  related drills and some of them were over at

         20  Randall's Island.

         21                 This is in addition to the many local

         22  drills carried on at the battalion level and the

         23  division level that routinely occurs throughout the

         24  City.

         25                 Manhattan units, for example, would
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          2  be training over in Penn Station, Grand Central

          3  Station and up in the Bronx we're training at the

          4  Hub all of the time, and this is a difficult

          5  operation, these tunnels and tubes and we're on top

          6  of it.  We're in communication, we have a Public

          7  Transportation Safety Unit here talking to the

          8  safety division in Transit all the time.  We're

          9  discussing roles, we're discussing SOP's,

         10  possibilities, and we're looking at all six sides of

         11  the issue to tell you the truth.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Now Chief,

         13  before I turn to my colleagues for further

         14  questioning, I just want to  --  in reference to

         15  your testimony where you mentioned that all commands

         16  have keys to gain access to the system, the subway

         17  system, I just want to be practical with wanting to

         18  understand what you mean by that.

         19                 Do you mean that in every fire house

         20  there is a key to gain access to the stations?

         21                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, when a

         22  firefighter gets promoted to the rank of Fire

         23  Officer, this key is given to newly promoted

         24  Lieutenants, which he carries through the time he

         25  retires.  Because all fire officers have been given

                                                            41

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE, TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  this key, I guess discussions between Fire and

          3  Transit  --  they came up with the solution of`well,

          4  let's put a lock on these HEET's that would be

          5  opened by use of this key, this specialized key.'

          6                 So, this is widely known, we all have

          7  it, and those people who do not have it certainly

          8  have access to that MetroCard that the MTA had

          9  distributed to the fire engines, the apparatus, and

         10  to the ambulances, and the paramedic units out

         11  there.

         12                 So either this key, this specialized

         13  key, or the MTA MetroCard issued specially for

         14  emergency responders can be used.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  But I mean,

         16  this key is to open up the gates that we see

         17  sometimes with a padlock on the stations, correct?

         18                 MR. ESPOSITO:  This is the HEET key.

         19  The High Exit Entry Turnstile--

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Opens up the

         21  big gates?

         22                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, right, right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So every unit

         24  has a key to open up these gates in case of an

         25  emergency evacuation of massive people, because the
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          2  cars will only allow one at a time to gain access,

          3  but to evacuate, I mean, it would be horrible if we

          4  can't open these gates and expect people to come out

          5  through the turnstile.

          6                 MR. ESPOSITO:  The is not a fire

          7  engine or ambulance out there that could not open up

          8  one of these HEET gates.  They all have the

          9  capability.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you.

         11                 Council Member Liu.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Chairman

         13  Martinez.

         14                 Commissioner Gair, I know you don't

         15  have any written testimony but you available for

         16  questions?

         17                 MR. GAIR:  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, so earlier

         19  Council Member Martinez asked the question of who

         20  really is in charge in this kind of situation where

         21  there is an emergency situation in the subway

         22  tunnel, and Chief Esposito said that generally

         23  speaking, I think  --  it sounded a little

         24  tentative.

         25                 So, I just want to make sure that
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          2  we're all clear on this.  Chief Esposito stated that

          3  the Fire Department was responsible for life saving

          4  measures, something like that.

          5                 MR. GAIR:  Yes, that is correct.  We

          6  are guided by the CIMS document, yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, Chief Hall

          8  did you want to add something?

          9                 MR. HALL:  Chief Esposito is right.

         10  The only exception, Mr. Chair, would be in a

         11  incident where we are clearly able to establish that

         12  it's some type of terrorist attack or criminality,

         13  the New York City Police Department would take the

         14  lead with the FDNY taking care of all life safety

         15  issues, and mass decontamination.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

         17                 So Commissioner Gair, where does OEM

         18  fit into this, in terms of an emergency situation in

         19  a subway tunnel?

         20                 MR. GAIR:  OEM's responsibility,

         21  we're not first responders, we are a response unit.

         22  Our job is to come to the scene and assist with the

         23  interagency coordination.

         24                 We also are the keeper, if you will,

         25  of the CIMS document, the Citywide Incident
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          2  Management System Document.

          3                 So we assist and support the other

          4  agencies there in the implementation of it.  The

          5  representatives from FD and PD are absolutely

          6  correct, and in an evacuation situation like this,

          7  FD does have the lead.  If there is any potential

          8  terrorism nexus, PD has preeminent authority, of

          9  course.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, so that fine.

         11    But you state that you're the keeper  --  OEM is

         12  the keeper of the guideline on how the FDNY and the

         13  Police Department interact, but then you state that

         14  you are there to assist and support them.

         15                 In fact, do you have some kind of, I

         16  don't know what the proper word for it is, do you

         17  have some kind of a coordinating responsibility

         18  between the FDNY and the Police Department in these

         19  kinds of situations?

         20                 MR. GAIR:  We do, our core competency

         21  under CIMS, CIMS outlines each agencies core

         22  competency, and OEM really has two.

         23                 One is the interagency coordination,

         24  and the other is resource support.  So, we provide

         25  logistic support if necessary through interagency
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          2  coordination.  We help get other agencies to the

          3  scene that may be requested by FD or PD, whether

          4  it's a utility, another city agency, a non- profit

          5  to provide support, whatever that may be, and we

          6  help convene interagency meetings to make sure that

          7  all the agencies are on the same page as far as the

          8  operational activities.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  With regard to what

         10  happened in August of 2006, just off the Manhattan

         11  Bridge, was OEM fully engaged in that evacuation?

         12                 MR. GAIR:  We were engaged in the

         13  operation.  We had responders at both sides at the

         14  Command Post assisting the key agencies in carrying

         15  out their duties.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, and was the

         17   --  in hindsight, was the way in which that

         18  evacuation on August 16th of 2006, was that

         19  evacuation carried out in full compliance with the

         20  CIMS document, or where there areas in which there

         21  could be some improvement?

         22                 MR. GAIR:  Well, CIMS does not speak

         23  to specific evacuation procedures.  It really speaks

         24  to how agencies perform their roles, who's in charge

         25  of which aspects, what their core competencies are,
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          2  and so yes, the answer is that all the agencies were

          3  performing within their core competencies as defined

          4  by CIMS.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, I guess  --

          6  I don't even know what CIMS stands for.

          7                 The objective that we have is to try

          8  to figure out exactly what procedures the MTA and

          9  the City are following when there is an emergency

         10  situation in the subways, and how to get people to

         11  safety as quickly as possible.

         12                 MR. GAIR:  Right.

         13                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes Councilman Liu,

         14  may I say --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yes.

         16                 MR. ESPOSITO:  I had that fire.  I

         17  was in MetroTech at the time the calls started

         18  coming in.  There was initial confusion as to the

         19  location of the fire.  Two boxes went out on the

         20  Manhattan side of the Manhattan Bridge, two boxes

         21  went out on the Brooklyn side of the Manhattan

         22  Bridge. I was in the Fire Department Command Center

         23  listing to the activity.  I knew something was

         24  coming down.  I knew we had a fire.  We just

         25  couldn't find it yet.
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          2                 When Ladder 110 arrived on the scene

          3  at the Brooklyn portal on the B- Line, heading south

          4  I guess down to Coney Island where the B- Line

          5  travels, I had the dispatcher immediately dispatch

          6  the 11th Division.  One- ten arrived on the scene,

          7  the first due truck, the Captain, he found a train

          8  partially in the Brooklyn portal.  He estimated that

          9  some two cars were now enveloped in a heavy smoke

         10  condition, stopped.  He gave the verbal to the

         11  Manhattan dispatcher who handed it off to Brooklyn.

         12                 Now something you have to know about

         13  tunnel fires, very dangerous.  Any fire officer

         14  would tell you, they are extremely hazardous for a

         15  number of reasons.  We have egress and access

         16  extremely limited.  Smoke control and heat control

         17  is often very, very limited.  Water supply, very

         18  difficult, very limited, requires long hand

         19  stretches.  We're not dealing with a delayed alarm,

         20  okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  When you said

         22  delayed alarm, I mean, did you sense that there was

         23  a  --  did the Fire Department somehow sense that

         24  there was a fire in the tunnel? Wasn't it a motorman

         25  who called it in?
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          2                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Right, right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So didn't the

          4  motorman just tell you exactly where the fire was?

          5                 MR. ESPOSITO:  You'll have to talk to

          6  Transit on that, okay?

          7                 We were being dispatched at different

          8  locations, and we are conducting surveys to the best

          9  of our ability.  This is going on for some ten to 15

         10  minutes now, and finally a truck company came --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Ten to fifteen

         12  minutes of what?

         13                 MR. ESPOSITO:  We were searching for

         14  this fire on the Manhattan side --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.

         16                 MR. ESPOSITO: -- and then finally the

         17  Brooklyn side.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I mean, it's kind

         19  of like a mixed bag to go first through this

         20  hearing.

         21                 MR. ESPOSITO:  But let me just tell

         22  you something.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Because you get to

         24  go first because that's generally the protocol that

         25  we follow, but on the other hand, a lot of these
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          2  questions are going to be directed to the MTA

          3  officials who are going to testify next.

          4                 But ten to 15 minutes before

          5  determining where the fire was, when in fact, the

          6  fire was called in by a subway motorman or

          7  motorperson.

          8                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Well, 18:03 according

          9  to this New York State Public Transportation Safety

         10  Board Report.

         11                 Now mind you, this final report with

         12  conclusions as signed by the Director, Jerry Shook

         13  (phonetic), investigated by this fellow John

         14  Competello (phonetic), came to these conclusions

         15  without speaking to anybody in the fire department.

         16  Nobody came to me.  Nobody came to my Operations

         17  Chief to say,`Hey chief, what was it like at the

         18  scene?  Why didn't you conduct an emergency

         19  evacuation?"

         20                 Well, there were serious life safety

         21  issues. Those passengers were in grave danger.

         22  That's the reason the evacuation took place the way

         23  it did, and we did it very successfully and quite

         24  efficiently.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right, so

                                                            50

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE, TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  Chief, so you  --  when the State Transportation

          3  Safety Board came up with this report, I think it

          4  came out three weeks ago, no actually maybe only two

          5  weeks ago, they did not consult the Fire Department?

          6                 MR. ESPOSITO:  I wan never consulted,

          7  nor was my Deputy Chief, the Operations Chief as a

          8  consultant on this.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, but if they

         10  were going to consult with anybody in the fire

         11  department, that would be you?

         12                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Obviously, that would

         13  be me.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.

         15                 MR. ESPOSITO:  However, they

         16  consulted with no one in the Fire Department.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right, just for

         18  the record, I did have some criticism for that State

         19  Transportation Safety Board document, where

         20  obviously being that kind of an agency, it's easy

         21  enough for them to point the finger towards the

         22  emergency services as opposed to really keep the

         23  accountability in the transit agency where a great

         24  deal of that accountability does belong.

         25                 So, you don't agree with the
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          2  Transportation Safety Board's conclusions?

          3                 MR. ESPOSITO:  This is garbage.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The report is

          5  garbage?

          6                 MR. ESPOSITO:  The conclusion is

          7  garbage.

          8                 When it said that the Fire

          9  Department, the "use of improper evacuation

         10  procedures used by the Fire Department." Those ten

         11  words in the conclusion is garbage.

         12                 We saved people's lives very

         13  efficiently.  We made a molehill out of a possible

         14  mountain here.  We acted appropriately.  I have 33

         15  years of firefighting experience in this City--

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Sure, 4,000 people

         17  were evacuated within a couple of hours.  There were

         18  26 injuries, some hospitalizations but whether it

         19  was a mountain or it was

         20  a molehill, that remains to be seen.

         21                 I think in the end, what we are

         22  trying to do is make sure that there is going to be

         23  tight coordination between all of the agencies, OEM

         24  included, as well as Fire and Police, and the MTA.

         25                 MR. ESPOSITO:  When we arrived on the
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          2  scene, we established an incident command post, we

          3  had PD present, and we had OEM presence, and we were

          4  working with them throughout the entire event.  The

          5  coordination was fine.  We had no issues with PD,

          6  they helped us, OEM provided all the assistance that

          7  we needed, and it worked very well.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  What about the

          9  Transportation Safety Board's assertion that  --

         10  well first of all, you do agree with their analysis

         11  that there were several minutes between when the

         12  fire was identified, and when the Fire Department

         13  determined the location of that fire?

         14                 You do agree with that part?

         15                 MR. ESPOSITO:  I was listening for

         16  ten minutes, as I had previously stated, a period of

         17  minutes, yes, before we actually found the location

         18  of the train in distress or the fire.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The report also

         20  talks about how the evacuation began prior to the

         21  power being cut off to the third rail.

         22                 Is that also how  --  imagination on

         23  the part of the Transportation Safety Board?

         24                 MR. ESPOSITO:  That's incorrect.

         25  Tunnels fire, as I was previously stating, very
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          2  dangerous.

          3                 In 1987, 30 people in London died in

          4  a subway fire.

          5                 In France, 39 people died in 1999.

          6                 In 2001 in Switzerland, we lost 11

          7  people on a transit fire.

          8                 In South Korea in 2003, we lost 124

          9  people when a subway fire began.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So are you--

         11                 MR. ESPOSITO:  What I'm telling you

         12  is this, the Captain arrived, he found a critical

         13  life safety issue, the Captain took appropriate

         14  action, he weighed the risks versus the rewards, and

         15  the risks of course were accessing a train with no

         16  contact on the MTA's part right now.  He did not

         17  have contact with the MTA or the motorman.

         18                 He accessed the train by stepping off

         19  a roadway on the Manhattan Bridge, onto a platform,

         20  at the end of the cars two and three, and from that

         21  point he started moving passengers to the rear of

         22  the train into basically a non- contaminated

         23  atmosphere, and he worked his way up to the

         24  motorman.  This took a series of about nine minutes

         25  to accomplish that task.
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          2                 Once he was in contact with the

          3  motorman, he spoke with him, he asked him, "Can you

          4  back this train out of this tunnel?"  And in no

          5  uncertain terms, the Captain was told, "No, I cannot

          6  do that at this time."

          7                 That information was passed along to

          8  the Deputy Chief, my Operations Chief, who is now in

          9  control, in charge.           Another ten minutes

         10  had elapsed as the Fire Department was trying to

         11  identify whether or not the train was on fire,

         12  whether or not we had rubbish adjacent to a train on

         13  fire, whether or not the fire was in front of the

         14  train, and situation was deteriorating.

         15                 Then finally, after some 19 minutes

         16  of being on the scene, a decision was made,`yes, we

         17  have to evacuate the train.'

         18                 The motorman was told at 19:38 hours

         19  that we were going to begin evacuation.  At 19:41

         20  hours, the evacuation began and we called for

         21  another call for`power off' on behalf of

         22  the Fire Department to the Transit Authority.

         23                 So we were in charge --  we were

         24  talking to the motorman telling him we were removing

         25  people from this train, directly from the train, and
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          2  they were stepping onto the roadbed. It was very

          3  fortuitous that the roadbed of the Manhattan Bridge,

          4  and the platform of the train, were pretty much

          5  level.  So it was nothing but a simple step, and

          6  some 35 minutes later, that entire train was

          7  evacuated with nothing but minor injuries.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, well you

          9  point out some issues that we're going to take up

         10  with the MTA officials.

         11                 I mean one of them, and just to give

         12  you guys a head's up, that the motorman said he

         13  could not back up the train, and that I would assume

         14  was because he didn't have the proper contact with

         15  the transit officials who would make that

         16  determination.

         17                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Absolutely.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I don't think a

         19  motorman is in a position  --  I'm sorry, the driver

         20  of the train is in a position to determine that he's

         21  going to back up the train on his own.

         22                 MR. ESPOSITO:  This was a critical

         23  situation.  We had a train descending into a tube,

         24  they were directly in line with the fire, if it

         25  hadn't already communicated to the train. That was
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          2  the chimney the train was going down right now.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Right.

          4                 MR. ESPOSITO:  If the fire didn't  --

          5    wasn't part of the train, didn't communicate as an

          6  exposure, it was heading their way, and hindsight is

          7  always 20/20.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Right.

          9                 MR. ESPOSITO:  In these situations,

         10  you have to be proactive to save life, and that's

         11  what we did, and we did it quite efficiently.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Hindsight is 20/20,

         13  and we're not trying to beat anybody up by looking

         14  backwards, but we want to make sure that if it does

         15  happen again, and we hope it doesn't, but if it does

         16  happen again, there is going to be all of the

         17  procedures and the decision- making steps in place

         18  properly.

         19                 MR. ESPOSITO:  All the procedures and

         20  decision making process was done properly at a

         21  unified command post on the Manhattan Bridge.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well even if it was

         23  done properly, it may still be inadequate, and so

         24  that's why we have to have this kind of discussion.

         25                 The Fire Captain  --  earlier in your
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          2  last round of comments, you talked about how the

          3  Fire Captain had to make a decision, had to weigh

          4  the risks and the advantages--

          5                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Versus the rewards,

          6  right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Risks and rewards

          8  of making the call to evacuate quickly or not.

          9                 MR. ESPOSITO:  The Captain did not

         10  make that decision.  The Captain needed to find

         11  information so his boss, the Deputy Chief on the

         12  scene, would have the situation analyzed, would have

         13  the information necessary to make the proper

         14  decision.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, so then it

         16  was not the Captain who was making the determination

         17  between risk and reward, he was going up the chain

         18  as protocol requires.

         19                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Absolutely, the

         20  Captain made a decision risk versus reward to access

         21  that train, to hop on the train without having power

         22  off.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.

         24                 MR. ESPOSITO:  That, of course, is

         25  against typical SOP.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Right.

          3                 MR. ESPOSITO:  We don't want to do

          4  that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  But who made the

          6  decision to evacuate that train then?

          7                 Because again, according to the

          8  report the decision to--

          9                 MR. ESPOSITO:  This report, they

         10  didn't talk to the Fire Department.  They did not

         11  talk to me.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay I know, but do

         13  you agree with them when they say that the

         14  evacuation began before the power was cut off?

         15                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  You agree with

         17  that?

         18                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Proper--

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So that means that

         20  someone, a higher ranking official than the Captain

         21  on the scene, a higher ranking official among our

         22  New York's bravest, they made that determination.

         23                 MR. ESPOSITO:  I made the decision.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The risk and reward

         25  of evacuating people from a dangerous fire and smoke
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          2  condition while the third rail was still alive.

          3                 MR. ESPOSITO:  The people were

          4  stepping off the train on to a roadway.  Nobody

          5  stepped on a track bed, nobody stepped over a hot

          6  shoe.  This was a maneuver with the full knowledge

          7  of the motorman that the people needed to be taken

          8  off the train at that moment.  There was no second

          9  guessing, we were all in full agreement that this

         10  was a critical situation.  We had a very heavy smoke

         11  condition, and as I had previously mentioned in

         12  these tunnel fires where these hundreds and hundreds

         13  of people had died, it was smoke poisoning that

         14  caused it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, but that is

         16   --  I am in no position to second guess that kind

         17  of decision-making. You're the experts, and so, if

         18  you're saying to us that the risk of people being

         19  harmed by the smoke and the fire, which have a

         20  tendency to move uphill  --  it far outweighed the

         21  risk of coming close to a live third rail, that is

         22  the decision, and that is what we're trying to get

         23  at here.

         24                 Chief Hall, did you want to--

         25                 MR. HALL:  Yes Chairman, in this
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          2  particular case, Chief Esposito I think wisely

          3  pointed out that at no time did any of the

          4  passengers come onto the track bed before the

          5  decision was made.  We had knowledge that passengers

          6  would be able to be evacuated without ever coming in

          7  contact with the roadbed.  They would actually be

          8  taking one step onto what really is the walkway of

          9  the Manhattan Bridge.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Oh, so they never

         11  got  -- they were never on the tracks?

         12                 MR. HALL:  Correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I mean, I think

         14  that's an important point.

         15                 MR. HALL:  And that was definitely a

         16  factor that was considered before this decision was

         17  made.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, so in other

         19  words you are saying that the passengers never came

         20  anywhere close to the third rail?

         21                 MR. HALL:  That's correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, well that

         23  would be a glaring omission on the part of the State

         24  Transportation Safety Board's report.

         25                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Oh absolutely, at
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          2  18:19 we had a unit on the scene.  Some nine minutes

          3  later, we requested power off when we talked to the

          4  motorman, and he told us he could not in short order

          5  back this train out of that portal, and then for

          6  another ten minutes we tried to identify the source

          7  of the fire, however, conditions continued to

          8  deteriorate.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, but actually

         10  if you had determined that the passengers could be

         11  evacuated without coming anywhere close to the third

         12  rail, why would you request that the power be turned

         13  off?

         14                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Often the power from

         15  the third rail would sustain an ongoing fire.  Often

         16  it's the third rail that may have grounded out and

         17  started some wood on fire.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.

         19                 MR. ESPOSITO:  And it's a safety

         20  thing too, it's an issue, whenever you evacuate you

         21  always want to turn the power off.  Actually, we

         22  have to access the railbed, firefighters, eventually

         23  with hoses and water to put the fire out.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Right, all right.

         25                 I'm going to move quickly because I
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          2  know my colleagues have questions.

          3                 I have just one last question, and

          4  this is directed at all of you but maybe it should

          5  be something that should be responded to by

          6  Commissioner Gair, which is that it seems, just

          7  based on what I've heard this morning, there is

          8  still a lack of coordination on the part of the

          9  emergency services when it comes to, at least when

         10  it comes to a subway emergency.

         11                 Would you believe, Commissioner Gair,

         12  that Chief Hall, and he is a distinguished Chief and

         13  among New York's finest, not once did he talk about

         14  any  --  he talked at length about coordination with

         15  the MTA and the Transit Authority, not once did

         16  Chief Hall mention the Fire Department.  He

         17  mentioned firefighters, but never the Fire

         18  Department.  Nothing about coordinating with the

         19  Fire Department.

         20                 Amazingly enough, Chief Esposito, and

         21  we have a great deal of respect for Chief Esposito,

         22  but he did not mention coordinating with the Police

         23  Department, except once a very brief mention of the

         24  Police Department.

         25                 I am wondering, is this all within
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          2  this SIMS (sic) document?

          3                 Is this something that OEM is looking

          4  at?

          5                 MR. GAIR:  Since I have been at OEM,

          6  we have responded to literally dozens and dozens of

          7  jobs involving both NYPD and FDNY, and on no

          8  occasions have I had any reports back from my

          9  responders in the field that lead me to believe

         10  anything other than there was excellent coordination

         11  and cooperation between NYPD, FDNY, and all the

         12  other city agencies.  Cooperation is excellent.  The

         13  Citywide Incident Management Systems, CIMS, document

         14  provides the framework for that, it's not a tactical

         15  document.  It's a management structured document.

         16  All the agencies are well trained in it.  We had to

         17  do that to comply to get Federal funding, and all

         18  the agencies are aware of exactly what it entails

         19  and it's well implemented in the field at this time.

         20                 MR. HALL:  I think we need to point

         21  out here that both the NYPD and the FDNY, in my

         22  testimony we continually do exercises with them

         23  jointly.  The cooperation under CIMS, the Citywide

         24  Incident Management System, on the event of August

         25  16, it is a unified command.
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          2                 So, that night if Chief Esposito was

          3  the highest ranking member of the FD, and I was the

          4  highest ranking member of the Police Department,

          5  we're going to be co- located in an incident command

          6  post together.  Not them there, not us over here,

          7  together.  Him and I will be shoulder to shoulder

          8  making decisions as this incident unfolds.

          9                 So, to say that no coordination or

         10  that there's separateness between the two agencies,

         11  that would not be accurate.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, I would have

         13  an easier time  --  I know that your are sincere and

         14  Commissioner Gair is sincere in your testimony and

         15  your statements.  I would have an easier time

         16  believing that if you, Chief Hall, did not testify

         17  in your written testimony that the entity

         18  responsible for deciding whether evacuation is

         19  necessary is the NYC Transit Department of Subways.

         20  Transit, according to you testimony, is responsible

         21  for making the call on whether an evacuation is to

         22  be done or not.

         23                 MR. HALL:  With the exception though

         24  in a situation where you have life safety concerns,

         25  a police officer or a firefighter at the scene can
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          2  immediately order the evacuation of a train.  More

          3  routine evacuations, oftentimes, are going to come

          4  through New York City Transit Subways.  They are

          5  going to make a call on this, but on this particular

          6  instance, this is one where the FDNY where it was

          7  determined it was a fire, made that call.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  It's hard to

          9  imagine, I mean, you testified to 17 evacuations

         10  since 2001, what were those 17 evacuations generally

         11  for?

         12                 Were people's lives at risk?

         13                 I would say, yes, Chief Hall.

         14                 MR. HALL:  In most instances if we --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I think in all of

         16  those cases.

         17                 MR. HALL: -- evacuated the train,

         18  certainly we had concerns for passengers.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So here again, it's

         20  a little bit inconsistent, and the goal here,

         21  Commissioner Gair, if we will work together on this,

         22  is to make sure that everyone understands who's in

         23  charge, who makes that call, and we're not talking

         24  about a small incident here.  We're talking about

         25  4,000 people, and there were 26 injuries, and so, I
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          2  will leave it at that, but let's make sure we're

          3  airtight on these kinds of subway emergencies.

          4                 I know that OEM has conducted  --

          5  has lead a very visible high- profile drills when

          6   --  in case of a bomb or in case of maybe poison

          7  gas or some other things.  Let's not forget the

          8  more, I don't know what you call it  --  let's not

          9  forget

         10  the more common occurrences that can happen, track

         11  fire because of  --  and we'll get into the

         12  maintenance procedures on the part of the MTA, track

         13  fires happen, and when track fires endanger people's

         14  lives, in this case 4,000 people, there needs to be

         15  a very clear idea of exactly what to do.

         16                 To the extent that we need to have

         17  drills in these kinds of more commonplace matters,

         18  as opposed to just having drills on bomb threats or

         19  poison gas scenarios, we need to do that.

         20                 So, I hope that you'll take this to

         21  heart, we're not trying to beat anybody up here, but

         22  when we have that many people involved and there are

         23  still lots of questions, we have to make sure that

         24  there are no more remaining questions.

         25                 Let me turn it over to my Co-chair,
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          2  Peter Vallone, of the Public Safety Committee.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

          4  Chair Liu.

          5                 I think we've once again demonstrated

          6  why you are our Council's expert on transportation.

          7                 We have been joined by Helen Foster,

          8  thank you.

          9                 I would just like to thank the entire

         10  panel for being here, and for the work you do every

         11  day.  We have been safe from an attack for a long

         12  time now, and that's no accident.  I mean, there

         13  were at least two attacks stopped, prevented, one

         14  in`97 at Atlantic Avenue, I believe, and one in 2004

         15  at the Herald Square stop.  That's only the ones we

         16  know about, so, we thank you, and OEM, thank you for

         17  the tour you gave to myself and some other council

         18  members like Gentile, the other day of your new

         19  facilities.  We have also toured the MetroTech and

         20  DOITT, and thank you for your cooperation.

         21                 Chief Esposito, thank you for your

         22  candor.  It's not the usual testimony we get, and we

         23  appreciate it.

         24                 As I said, Chair Liu is our expert in

         25  this but let me say when it comes to a decision made
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          2  by the New York City Fire Department, its

          3  consultation with our Police Department, I would

          4  take that any day over the second guessing of any

          5  state agency.

          6                 I am flabbergasted that this agency

          7  did not even consult with our Fire Department

          8  regarding an evacuation which you were in charge of.

          9    It's akin to investigating an airplane crash

         10  without speaking to the FAA.  It doesn't make any

         11  sense at all.

         12                 Chief, is it mandatory, is it

         13  required that they speak to you in this situation?

         14                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Actually, this is the

         15  first time I ever heard of this board.  I knew we

         16  have an NTSB, I never actually knew we had a New

         17  York State Public Transportation Safety Board until

         18  it was shown to me.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I just looked

         20  over to John Liu, and said, "was this a state board

         21  or federal board?"  I didn't know it existed either.

         22    He knew as usual, but I did not know that this

         23  existed either.

         24                 So, you weren't even aware that this

         25  Board existed?
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          2                 MR. ESPOSITO:  No Sir, no.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Guess we need

          4  to do a little inquiry into this Board, and what its

          5  procedures are because this seems negligent on its

          6  face to not speak to our City agencies who were in

          7  charge of the evacuation, and then come up with

          8  conclusions regarding that evacuation.

          9                 It does not mean, of course, as John

         10  Liu said, that we shouldn't learn from and improve

         11  after any instance, that's why we're here, but I

         12  just think it's completely irresponsible to not

         13  speak with you.

         14                 I'm going to move off that incident

         15  because I am not an expert in it.

         16                 Chief, you mentioned the fact that

         17  you have a key to every HEET gate.

         18                 What does it mean to actually open a

         19  HEET gate, I'm confused?  How does a HEET gate open?

         20                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, I personally

         21  never operated one but they do swing.  It is a swing

         22  gate, and by the use of this key, we open the gate.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Do you mean the

         24  emergency gates next to the HEET gates?  Or do you

         25  mean the actual HEET gate itself?

                                                            70

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE, TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, it's the

          3  emergency gate right next to the HEET gate, yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, that's

          5  what I thought.  I can't imagine a HEET gate

          6  actually opening.

          7                 In fact, that's one of the many fire

          8  code violations that exists when it comes to HEET

          9  gates, that they're not collapsible as they are

         10  supposed to be under the State Fire Code.  So, they

         11  don't actually open.

         12                 Okay, speaking of HEET gates Chief, I

         13  have a letter from Katie Lapp where she says that

         14  she's not there any longer but that she says that

         15  the MTA is not subject to the New York City Fire

         16  Codes, which is true, and I quote, "they maintain a

         17  long- standing working relationship with the FDNY,

         18  whereby, the FDNY inspects the transit system and

         19  offers recommendations for the New York City

         20  Transit's consideration."

         21                 Were you ever given the opportunity,

         22  when it comes to HEET gates, to make any

         23  recommendations and if so, what were they?

         24                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Not personally

         25  Councilman, no.  I never was asked for input, but I
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          2  am sure there are other members of the Department

          3  perhaps that did.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Well, I'd

          5  actually need to know--

          6                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Oh, no, no, no, the

          7  Fire Department was consulted.  Yes we were, we work

          8  with the MTA with the installation of the HEET

          9  gates.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Did you have

         11  any recommendations regarding those gates?

         12                 MR. ESPOSITO:  No, we took the MTA

         13  recommendations when we were determining egress and

         14  access.  We were informed that it was essentially

         15  the same, and we went along with their findings with

         16  the HEET gates.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Well, I have a

         18  letter from your Department which basically says

         19  that you did not approve of these gates, and you

         20  were never asked, but I don't want to ambush you

         21  with that.  I'm not going to ambush you with that,

         22  we'll discuss that.

         23                 Regarding your interagency training,

         24  I thought it was interesting that the Fire

         25  Department said the Fire Department was in charge,
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          2  and the Police Department said they were in charge,

          3  and as usual, I think it's open to interpretation,

          4  which is my problem with the CIMS system, Citywide

          5  Incident Management System.

          6                 What the rules actually say is that

          7  the Police Department is in charge if it's a

          8  terrorism incident, and if it's not  --  if it's

          9  determined not to be, then the Fire Department is in

         10  charge because its core competency is life saving.

         11                 How is it determined when there is an

         12  incident in the subways whether or not it's a

         13  terrorism incident?

         14                 Who makes that decision, and

         15  therefore, who determines who's in charge?

         16                 MR. HALL:  Mr. Chairman, an incident

         17   --  a terrorist attack in the subway, when you look

         18  at the incidents around the world, often there's an

         19  assessment period that's fairly quick, usually mass

         20  casualties, explosions, loss of life, and

         21  historically incidents that come close to each

         22  other, multiple incidents.

         23                 So in the event of an attack in New

         24  York City, there would be an assessment period but

         25  it's usually characterized by, unfortunately, mass
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          2  casualties, not a traditional subway fire, track

          3  fire, and until we determine that there is no

          4  criminality under the CIMS protocol, the Police

          5  Department would be the lead agency.

          6                 CO- CHAIR VALLONE:  Chief Esposito,

          7  do you concur with that?

          8                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, the Fire

          9  Department is

         10  charged  --  our core competency is life safety, and

         11  even in the event we had a terrorist attack, we

         12  would have a unified command initially until we

         13  could establish that fact, and the Fire Department

         14  would go about conducting evacuation and life

         15  safeties with all of the HazMat resources we have

         16  available, and we would work together.

         17                 CO- CHAIR VALLONE:  You two weren't

         18  here, I don't believe, at our last hearing, we had

         19  the OEM commissioner and other commissioner's here,

         20  and we ran a scenario past them where the Fire

         21  Department was attempting to run into a subway, but

         22  the Police Department was declaring it a terrorism

         23  scene, and the Fire Department was saying there are

         24  people dying, and we didn't get any answers that day

         25  that were understandable, and I don't want to put
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          2  you two on the spot and expect you two to interpret

          3  that entire system also.

          4                 Suffice it to say, it needs  --  it's

          5  a great system, in general, 98 percent of it and I

          6  think you've done an excellent job over at OEM

          7  coming up with the system, but there are some

          8  problems which still need to be resolved, and subway

          9  incidents especially when they regard hazardous

         10  materials or terrorist attacks are a very confusing

         11  area when it comes to who's in charge.

         12                 Regarding police radios as I

         13  mentioned in my opening, there's an MTA radio system

         14  out there that costs $140 million, which the Police

         15  Department is, so far, beginning to  -- refusing to

         16  use.

         17                 Would you please Inspector update us

         18  on that situation?

         19                 MR. KOPSTEIN:  Sure Mr. Chair.

         20                 Presently, not to get too bogged down

         21  in technology, presently the Transit Bureau and the

         22  officers that are assigned there, are working with

         23  radios that are on a BHF system.  The remainder of

         24  the Police Department, more specifically, the

         25  officers that are working above ground, they're
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          2  working with a radio system that's on a UHF

          3  frequency. Ultimately, the goal of the MTA's project

          4  was to take the transit officers radios and convert

          5  them onto a UHF system, therefore, we would all be

          6  on a UHF frequency.

          7                 The MTA took this project, as you

          8  said, dating back I guess 1995 after the merge, and

          9  there has still, to date, been technical problems

         10  which has prevented the Police Department from

         11  accepting the radio system as it exists right now.

         12                 Those technical problems in short,

         13  are really still interference, interference that the

         14  Police Department feels is significant enough that

         15  we do not want to accept the system.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  So the officers

         17  below ground are on a different wave length than the

         18  officers above ground.

         19                 Describe for me now, let's start with

         20  the beginning, the communication below ground

         21  between your officers.             Is it sufficient,

         22  and how does it interact with the above ground

         23  officers?

         24                 MR. HALL:  I think, Mr. Chairman,

         25  when you talk about transit officers that are
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          2  assigned to the subway system, it's important to

          3  note that's where they work every day.  That's their

          4  environment, they enjoy a real high comfort level

          5  working in the subway.

          6                 The radio system that they currently

          7  use is on a VHF system.  They have pretty good

          8  communication amongst each other, between the 911

          9  dispatcher.

         10                 So amongst transit bureau officers, I

         11  think we're pretty good in terms of our

         12  communication.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  What is pretty

         14  good?  Are there dead spots?

         15                 How do you define pretty good?

         16                 MR. HALL:  I think in a system as big

         17  as the New York City subway system, and as large as

         18  it is, you're going to have occasional dead spots

         19  but by and large, when our officers need to

         20  communicate with each other, with a supervisor, or

         21  with the dispatcher, they're able to do so pretty

         22  clearly.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, so I

         24  interrupted you, keep going on.

         25                 MR. HALL:  Above ground, they  --
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          2  those officers are on a UHF system.  That's

          3  ultimately the goal to get the transit officers onto

          4  that system.  If they need to communicate with us,

          5  that communication is going to really be done

          6  through the 911 dispatchers reaching out to the 911

          7  transit dispatchers, and relaying what we need to

          8  know, or vice versa, us giving information to them

          9  through a transit bureau dispatcher.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Just run

         11  through a lay person  --  run a lay person through

         12  that.  A transit police officer would radio an

         13  emergency to who, and how does it eventually get to

         14  an above ground officer?

         15                 MR. HALL:  Well first of all, all of

         16  our transit supervisors, they are working above

         17  ground normally, in a marked police car equipped

         18  with both radios.  In other words, they have a

         19  transit radio and they have a, for lack of a better

         20  word, a street radio.  They can relay communications

         21  from their officers that are in the subway to street

         22  cars that are working above ground.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  How is it

         24  getting from the transit officer in the train to the

         25  transit officer sitting in the car above ground?
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          2                 MR. HALL:  That's done, Mr. Chairman,

          3  through a transit bureau radio.  He has the ability

          4  to talk with the transit bureau supervisor, through

          5  a transit radio.  That's all on the same frequency.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  But the transit

          7  radio on the VHF frequency?  Below ground frequency?

          8                 MR. HALL:  Correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Can reach the--

         10                 MR. HALL:  The transit bureau

         11  supervisor.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  The transit

         13  bureau above ground?

         14                 MR. HALL:  Yes he can.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, so that's

         16  one phone call from the transit officer in the

         17  subway to that transit supervisor above ground.

         18  Then what happens?

         19                 MR. HALL:  Oftentimes, if for

         20  example, it's a description that we want to put over

         21  the air, that transit supervisor then puts that

         22  description over the air on the street radio that

         23  he's carrying in the car, and that's put out for all

         24  surrounding units.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Well he's
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          2  calling that description into a dispatcher?

          3                 MR. HALL:  Into a dispatcher,

          4  exactly.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And they put it

          6  out over the air?

          7                 MR. HALL:  Correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  All right, so

          9  we're skipping a few phone calls in there, and at

         10  that point, the street officers can  --  are aware

         11  of the situation?

         12                 MR. HALL:  That's correct.  On that

         13  division, Mr. Chairman, all of the officers working

         14  in that area would be able to receive the

         15  transmission that the transit supervisor put out.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay so you've

         17  got a call from the officer below ground to the

         18  supervisor, the supervisor then calls 911 who then

         19  alerts the Police Department before the dispatch

         20  goes out?

         21                 MR. HALL:  The transit supervisor is

         22  actually dealing with the dispatcher that's putting

         23  out the jobs to the street officers up above.

         24                 So the minute that transit supervisor

         25  speaks, everyone on the street is hearing it, and

                                                            80

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE, TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  they are privy to what is going on.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, now this

          4  new system, how is that  --  apparently you can

          5  speak to officers above ground as long as they're

          6  transit officers.

          7                 The new system that the MTA is

          8  proposing is going to improve that how?

          9                 MR. HALL:  Well what you would have

         10  Mr. Chairman, is that transit officer who is below

         11  ground pretty much by flipping a channel would be

         12  able to communicate freely with officers that are

         13  assigned on the street, and vice versa, officers on

         14  the street by flipping a switch, would be able to

         15  communicate with transit officers assigned below

         16  ground.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Right now

         18  you've made the decision that it's safer to remain

         19  under the system that exists, as opposed to moving

         20  to this new system with its flaws?

         21                 MR. HALL:  At this time that decision

         22  has been made not to yet accept that system based on

         23  the flaws, that's correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Have you been

         25  given any information as to when those flaws would
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          2  be corrected, or have you made any decisions as to

          3  when you will be moving onto this new $140 million

          4  system?

          5                 MR. HALL:  I know Inspector Dowd

          6  (phonetic) testified before this Committee late last

          7  year.  It's the hope that sometime next year the

          8  technical problems within the system would be ironed

          9  out, and we would accept it at that time, but that

         10  remains to be seen.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  What are the

         12  problems that you've come across?

         13                 MR. HALL:  It's really interference,

         14  interference to the point where using that radio in

         15  our mind, really is potentially a problem because

         16  the interference is such that we would not be able

         17  to communicate, especially in areas near portals,

         18  subway grates, stairwells.  It just seems to have

         19  difficulties in those areas.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  How do you

         21  communicate with other agencies now, such as the

         22  Fire Department, and how would the new system change

         23  that?

         24                 MR. HALL:  Presently, as I mentioned

         25  earlier, presently we can  --  if there's a need to
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          2  get the Fire Department, our transit officers could

          3  request the Fire Department right over their radio.

          4  That's not a problem.  A transit officer can come

          5  across or see a track fire, and on his radio, just

          6  through the dispatcher say, "I need FDNY to whatever

          7  station," and we're going to have that response.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  So he's not

          9  speaking to the FDNY, he's speaking to his

         10  dispatcher.

         11                 MR. HALL:  No, correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Who then needs

         13  to speak to a dispatcher at FDNY, who needs to

         14  dispatch someone to that location?

         15                 MR. HALL:  Right, the PD dispatcher

         16  would talk to FDNY, and the response would be sent.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Does the MTA's

         18  new system change this in any way?

         19                 MR. HALL:  I'll let Inspector

         20  Kopstein, I think he has the actual exact

         21  technicalities.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.

         23                 MR. KOPSTEIN:  Once the new UHF

         24  system --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Despite the
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          2  voice, you still need to speak for the record into

          3  the microphone.

          4                 MR. KOPSTEIN:  Once the new UHF

          5  system becomes online, the existing UHF

          6  interoperability channels will be accessible below

          7  ground.  Every chief officer in the Fire Department

          8  have radios capable of communicating on the UHF

          9  interoperability channels, as do all Captains and

         10  above in the NYPD.  So those channels can be used

         11  both above ground and in the future, below ground

         12  for coordination between incident command personnel

         13  at the scene of an incident.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  So it sounds

         15  like you've -- that would cut out the middle man?

         16  The people at the location would be able to speak

         17  directly to the Fire Department?

         18                 MR. HALL:  That is correct, Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, I've got

         20  so many more questions but I want to do what my Co-

         21  chairs have done, and cut them short to allow  --

         22  who just had to leave to vote? Thank you for doing

         23  that so quickly gentlemen  --  get to some of our

         24  fellow council members.

         25                 So, we'll move now to Council Member

                                                            84

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE, TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  Gentile.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you,

          4  Mr. Chair and Chairs, and thank you gentlemen for

          5  your testimony, I will be brief.

          6                 I'm curious in light of what you

          7  said, Chief Esposito, saying that according to CIMS,

          8  if it's not a terrorist situation the Fire

          9  Department has control and command at the scene of a

         10  subway incident, particularly a fire.  I'm curious

         11  in light of that because in Chief Hall's testimony

         12  he testified to, at least, two different evacuation

         13  procedures.  The end- to- end evacuation and side-

         14  by- side evacuation of subway cars, which would

         15  necessitate the continuance of power to the third

         16  rail to complete those evacuations.

         17                 Given that of the four, two

         18  procedures require the maintaining of the power on

         19  the third rail, what is your thinking, what is your

         20  process of thinking of when to cut the power to the

         21  third rail, as opposed to leaving it on to perform

         22  those evacuation procedures?

         23                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Well, that's one of

         24  the first decisions the incident commander would

         25  make once he arrives on the scene, whether or not
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          2  there is a need to cut power.  At the fire I had

          3  this past August 16th, we had a need to cut power

          4  because we had to remove the people from that train

          5  in a very unorthodox fashion, and we did that

          6  because of critical life safety issues.

          7                 Also under the CIMS document, we are

          8  required to establish a unified command post, and

          9  once we establish a unified command post, we share

         10  information.  I'd be talking to my PD counterpart

         11  and TA representatives on the scene, and we would

         12  make a decision as to what are the goals, what are

         13  the objectives, and then similarly, how do we want

         14  to do about it, what resources are available.  We

         15  assist each other with this decision- making

         16  process, the situational awareness, the gathering of

         17  information, and ultimately, in the event a non-

         18  terrorist incident is underway, the Fire Department

         19  would be the, under CIMS, the agency who would lead

         20  the evacuation process.

         21                 We would of course, use our

         22  counterparts in the Police Department, but

         23  ultimately, that authority lies with the Fire

         24  Department.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  It would
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          2  seem though, wouldn't it, that if you had an end-

          3  to- end, if you were able to pull another train up

          4  end- to- end, or another train up side- by side, you

          5  can execute that evacuation far more quickly and

          6  efficiently as to using the other two types of

          7  evacuations?

          8                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Absolutely councilman,

          9  absolutely. That is the preferred method.  That is

         10  the primary method to evacuate people, get them to

         11  the subway station, get them to the platform, let

         12  them access the exits and egress in the normal

         13  fashion.  That's what we prefer to do almost 100

         14  percent of the time.  That's the way we want to get

         15  people off the trains, yes, you are absolutely

         16  correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  But at the

         18  same time, because firefighters are not in the

         19  subway tunnels every day, is there some concern for

         20  their safety by maintaining power on the third rail

         21  if you are sending firefighters into that situation?

         22                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Only in critical, life

         23  safety situations are firefighters allowed, as per

         24  our policy, to enter the right- of- way, and that is

         25  simply to save life, and in the event they ever did
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          2  that, there are emergency power- off boxes that

          3  would need to be accessed immediately with a follow-

          4  up call to the TA.  The policies are set in stone.

          5  It's procedure, it's taught in the probationary

          6  firefighters school, as well as reviewed by 25 and

          7  30 year veterans throughout the year, over at our

          8  Randall's Island facility.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So are you

         10  saying that firefighters would not go into a tunnel

         11  if the power were on?

         12                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Unless to save life,

         13  that is correct.  Unless you had no other options

         14  available to save life, again, it's a risk versus

         15  rewards decision, okay.  You have to make decisions

         16  wisely based on the incident, based on the scene,

         17  and we would prefer nobody ever to enter a right-

         18  of- way or go onto a track area in the event power

         19  was still on.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  How many,

         21  and maybe Chief Hall can answer this, how many of

         22  the evacuations that have actually occurred have

         23  been the side- by- side trains, or the end to- end

         24  trains in the last several years?  Do you know?

         25                 MR. HALL:  I don't have the exact
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          2  number councilman, but keep in mind, before we put a

          3  passenger down on the roadbed, that's the last

          4  resort.  That's not going to be done unless we

          5  really, really believe that there's a serious life

          6  safety issue.  Most of the evacuations we're going

          7  to attempt to reach the train, and as I had said in

          8  my testimony, passenger discharge is the ultimate

          9  goal if we can get one car to a platform, and you

         10  just walk the people through the train to the car

         11  that's on the platform and we can move people off

         12  that way. Our officers, granted they're  --  all of

         13  them are track-certified where they will walk and if

         14  necessary, conduct police operations on trains with

         15  a live third rail, but it's something that we don't

         16  want to see happen.  It's something that we try to

         17  prevent from happening, but putting passengers on

         18  the roadbed is the last resort.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So your

         20  preference then would be to maintain power to get

         21  another train, or move a train to near a platform?

         22                 MR. HALL:  Correct, if possible that

         23  allows for the passengers never to come in contact

         24  with the roadbed, and therefore, be a safer form of

         25  evacuation.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you,

          3  just one other question for Chief Esposito.

          4                 It seems the non- motorized cars that

          5  you mentioned in your testimony, would the use of

          6  those cars require the third rail to be off?

          7                 MR. ESPOSITO:  No Chairman, it's

          8  simply a manual push type of a cart, much like a

          9  wagon where you can  --  no, it's not one of those

         10  either.  You would push it, and it's quite an

         11  effective way to transport tools and equipment,

         12  generators, these things are heavy, to the scene of

         13  an incident that may occur between train stations,

         14  between platforms.  So, it's something we invested

         15  in and something we're going forward with, and there

         16  are motorized versions that we're looking into, and

         17  it was received very favorably after review by the

         18  Department, and I'm sure we will have some of them

         19  available in the near future too.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Great, thank

         21  you.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

         24  council member.

         25                 Chief just to clarify, when you said
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          2  you have a key to the HEET gate, we've determined

          3  it's not the actual HEET gate, but are you talking

          4  about the emergency exits which were locked but now,

          5  thanks to the City Council, have panic bars on them,

          6  or is there a different--

          7                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Apparently, there is

          8  swing gate adjacent to this high entry- exit

          9  turnstile.  That's the key access to this emergency

         10  exit.  So, it's not actually the HEET gate itself.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Right, but is

         12  it the emergency gate with the panic bar, or is the

         13  swing gate yet another gate?

         14                 MR. HALL:  Mr. Chairman, it's another

         15  gate.  That gate comes out of the wall, and abuts up

         16  against the HEET, and our officers are equipped with

         17  a key where they can, with that key, pull, actually

         18  pull that gate, unlock it, and pull it so that it

         19  creates a wide path to the side of the HEET.  It is

         20  not the one with the bars.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, and by

         22  the way, yet another violation of the Fire Code to

         23  have a  --  every revolving door has to have a swing

         24  gate open within ten feet of it.

         25                 I mentioned a letter to you, Chief
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          2  Esposito, and I just wanted to read to you from it.

          3  I wrote a specific letter to the Fire Department

          4  asking whether they approved HEET gates, and they

          5  very clearly said to me the FDNY does work usually

          6  with the Transit Authority but that "will only

          7  provide its approval it the TA adheres to all

          8  applicable New York City Codes, Regulations and

          9  Guidelines."  And it specifically says, "as to

         10  whether or not they violate the provisions of the

         11  Code, this question would be best addressed to the

         12  Transit Authority itself."

         13                 So, nowhere in there in their

         14  response to me did they say they approved of it or

         15  that they conform with the Code because, clearly,

         16  even the TA admits now that it violates every code

         17  known to mankind.  If Nero had a Fire Code, it would

         18  violate that Code.

         19                 But, I just wanted to  --  in reading

         20  that letter to you, I just wanted to ask you again

         21  whether or not you or your Department had any

         22  position regarding whether or not these HEET gates

         23  violate New York City Codes, or as to their safety

         24  in general?

         25                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Mr. Chairman rather
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          2  than me respond, I can follow up after I do some

          3  fact finding.  I don't have the necessary

          4  information to comment on that letter.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, thank

          6  you.

          7                 Council Member Gerson.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

          9  very much, Chair Vallone, and Chairs Martinez and

         10  Liu.

         11                 Gentlemen, officers, still good

         12  morning for a few minutes.

         13                 I just want to follow up with a few

         14  questions focusing on the role of the EMS component

         15  of the Fire Department. It's been touched upon in

         16  your testimony, but just kind of briefly, and I

         17  would assume they would have a critical role to play

         18  in preparation and in effectuating many different

         19   --  preparing for and effectuating many different

         20  types of evacuations.

         21                 So let me just first start with this

         22  issue of communications.  Once the new universal UHF

         23  system, as I understand it, is put in place, will

         24  EMS personnel be equipped with radios which allows

         25  them to directly communicate with both police
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          2  officers and fire officers.

          3                 MR. KOPSTEIN:  Council member, as I

          4  stated earlier, all chief officers in the Fire

          5  Department will have access to the interoperable

          6  channels.

          7                 In addition, I do believe that there

          8  are other channels that EMS and fire suppression

          9  share but as far as interagency goes, every Chief

         10  Officer in the Fire Department, as well as all

         11  Captains and higher in the Police Department will

         12  have access to those UHF channels.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So, it's only

         14  at the level of the Chief Officer or the equivalent

         15   --  the Chief Officer or the Captain who will have

         16  access to these radios?  Is that correct?

         17                 MR. KOPSTEIN:  The frequency designs

         18  for interoperability are to maintain command and

         19  control of a situation.

         20                 If you had an excess number of people

         21  on a particular channel, it would be similar to this

         22  room if everybody in it began speaking at the same

         23  time.  The ability to communicate would cease to

         24  exist.  So, we have the people in charge of the

         25  various agencies or components of the agencies
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          2  communicating with each other in a command and

          3  control situation.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well let me

          5  ask you this. I understand that, and the Police

          6  Department currently operates radios with a great

          7  number of different bands or frequencies, which are

          8  reserved for different geographic areas or different

          9  purposes, as I understand it.  Correct me if I am

         10  wrong.

         11                 So, certainly it would be feasible

         12  for there to be one band reserved for the command

         13  and another band, if we so chose, to be utilized for

         14  the officers or the personnel on the scene to

         15  communicate.

         16                 I am concerned about the situation

         17  that actually Chief Esposito described wherein the

         18  firefighter on the scene had to walk to, as I

         19  understand your testimony, had to physically walk

         20  and track down the motorman to access certain vital

         21  information, and my question is, are we moving to a

         22  system where the uniformed personnel will have

         23  direct radio communication within the system, within

         24  a subway, within a tunnel, so that among all

         25  relevant agencies and personnel, so that that
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          2  firefighter could be in direct contact with the

          3  motorman, rather than have to walk and find them,

          4  and by extension so that an EMS responder could

          5  directly signal  --  directly communicate, not only

          6  to fire but also to police.

          7                 Is that something that we are moving

          8  towards?

          9                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Well right now, we

         10  have interoperable handy-talkies and communications

         11  as Inspector Kopstein was mentioning.

         12                 We do, for example, within the Fire

         13  Department, I was able to communicate with that

         14  Captain, okay?  This is among firefighters,

         15  firefighters can communicate with EMS and

         16  Paramedics.  We do have a common channel where --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Right because

         18  you're all within one department.

         19                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Right, right, and then

         20  on an interoperable level, we do have the OEM

         21  radios, for example, that they did hand out which is

         22  the Veritex (phonetic) radios that contain the

         23  interoperable channels, and we have available as an

         24  incident should escalate, the MCU or ACU- 1,000's

         25  where our Command Centers would roll on scene with
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          2  this computer that essentially would patch together

          3  different frequencies and allow us to communicate.

          4                 So, there are different methods that

          5  we can use to communicate.  However, the

          6  communications on Command levels, basically, is

          7  necessary to coordinate the activities of all of the

          8  police officers who may be there, and the

          9  firefighters, and the EMT's and Paramedics.

         10                 So, that is a primary focus I believe

         11  of these interoperable frequencies.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So, what I'm

         13  hearing by your response is that there are no plans

         14  to enable responders of one service or one

         15  department, viewing for now the EMS as part of the

         16  Fire Department, to communicate directly to on scene

         17  responders or personnel of another department

         18  through radio communication?  Obviously, they can

         19  try to shout but--

         20                 MR. KOPSTEIN:  At the scene of a

         21  major incident, it would be counterproductive for a

         22  police officer or a firefighter or an EMT to decide

         23  between themselves how to manage an incident.

         24                 So, we have command and control

         25  through supervision to manage the incident.  I think
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          2  what the council member may be referring to is

          3  something that came up at a prior hearing in which

          4  EMS was talking about access to division police

          5  radio.  That is a policy decision, and I don't think

          6  it's a topic of today's hearing.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  No, but I

          8  understand that and there's an overlap of the policy

          9  but it strikes me, it would have been beneficial if

         10  the firefighter, who Chief Esposito referred to in

         11  describing the Manhattan Bridge incident would have

         12  been able to have radio to the motorman on the scene

         13  to get information rather than having to have walked

         14  through the train to physically reach the motorman

         15  and get the information.

         16                 So, I mean I would hope that the

         17  personnel we employ know the difference between

         18  asserting command when they're not responsible, and

         19  ascertaining vital information which the Chief

         20  testified this firefighter needed to do.

         21                 So it seems to me in a situation

         22  where every second counts and you have to

         23  communicate situations, in this case the firefighter

         24  had to ask the motorman something about the fire

         25  condition.  It might be beneficial, or it would be
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          2  beneficial to facilitate interagency, direct

          3  communication.  Just as firefighters can communicate

          4  directly to each other, and police officers can

          5  communicate directly to each other, seems to me if

          6  you have an EMS person down in one part of the

          7  tunnel, or a firefighter, or a police officer, and

          8  they see a situation which is relevant, you want to

          9  enable them to communicate by radio rather than have

         10  to go and directly  --  above ground  --  and then

         11  back down to underground where you loose seconds or

         12  more.

         13                 I am just asking you  --  while I

         14  hear from your testimony that's currently not in the

         15  works, and I would ask for as a follow up, that you

         16  consider this and provide certainly me, and I'm sure

         17  my colleagues would be interested with some

         18  explanation as to whether or not that is desirable

         19  and possible under different situations.

         20                 So I would request maybe a follow up

         21  in the near future on the issue of interagency

         22  communications within an underground situation

         23  specifically.

         24                 Just two other questions on the EMS

         25  role.  Chief, you testified that there currently,
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          2  EMS personnel are trained for underground and subway

          3  situations.  That's correct?

          4                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, that is correct,

          5  yes councilman.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Is the

          7  training provided just to FDNY, EMS personnel?

          8                 Or is it provided to non- FDNY

          9  personnel within the 911 system?

         10                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, it's FDNY, EMS.

         11  It does not include the non- FDNY 911 system

         12  providers right not.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  It is

         14  possible, given that a high proportion of the 911

         15  system is  --  consists of non- FDNY, EMS personnel

         16  that they could be, especially in a large- scale

         17  situation, they could be called to the scene of an

         18  underground incident, is that not possible?

         19                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, that's possible.COUNCIL

         20  MEMBER GERSON:  So, we might want to look into

         21  extending training requirements.

         22                 Is that something you could look

         23  into?

         24                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, we will.  Yes, we

         25  will.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, and

          3  then finally the key  --  this super pass key that

          4  we're talking  --  that was discussed earlier, I

          5  would love to see what the key looks like, but in

          6  any event--

          7                 MR. HALL:  Council member.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Yes.

          9                 MR. HALL:  From the NYPD's

         10  perspective, our transit bureau officers, they are

         11  issued a set of keys.  I wish it was like one key,

         12  but it's a set of keys, four or five keys, those

         13  keys give access to subway doors.  I think--

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  It's not one

         15  pass key for all subway doors?

         16                 MR. HALL:  No, there's  --  well for

         17  subway doors there's one key, but then you're going

         18  to have another key, I think it's called a`69' key,

         19  for the padlocks that are on some of the gates, so

         20  our officers, upon being assigned to the Transit

         21  Bureau, receive that set of keys, and those keys

         22  stay with the officer as long as he's assigned to

         23  the Bureau.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I see, and

         25  those keys together provide, essentially, universal
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          2  access to all locked doors or gates within the

          3  system?

          4                 MR. HALL:  Yes, Sir.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And Chief

          6  Esposito, the FDNY has the same set of keys?

          7                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Yes, it is.  I have

          8  one of those keys, one of those critical keys.  I

          9  don't have all of the keys, but I have one of the

         10  keys that are necessary to open up these emergency

         11  exits.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Do you have it

         13  with you?

         14                 MR. ESPOSITO:  No, I have my--

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  You said at

         16  all times.

         17                 MR. ESPOSITO:  I'm the supervisor.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Are the EMS,

         19  Chief Esposito, the EMS component, are they issued

         20  the same set of keys?

         21                 MR. ESPOSITO:  They have a MetroCard

         22  that they're able to access the--

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So, they only

         24  get the MetroCard but FDNY gets the keys?

         25                 MR. ESPOSITO:  To my knowledge, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But FDNY gets

          3  the keys? Or FDNY firefighters  --  and you all get

          4  both?

          5                 MR. ESPOSITO:  And a MetroCard.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And so you

          7  all get both?

          8                 MR. ESPOSITO:  That's correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But I'm being

         10  a little lighthearted here because, and I'm going to

         11  conclude, but again, I mean, unless you're able to

         12  do something with your MetroCards that are not done

         13  with my MetroCard, I'm concerned of a situation

         14  where an EMS responder who might get to the scene a

         15  little bit before other personnel is using a

         16  MetroCard and then is getting that message`swipe

         17  again, swipe again,' and I have a horror story of

         18  that happening when someone on the other side of the

         19  gate is suffering from an emergency medical

         20  situation.

         21                 So, it seems to me that it might make

         22  sense to consider giving the EMS service, especially

         23  those in situations where they are responding to

         24  subway incidents, have the same type of keys.

         25                 MR. ESPOSITO:  I understand
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          2  everything you're saying.  Rarely would an EMS be

          3  called to a subway system without a Fire Department

          4  unit assigned, too.  Actually, you get three engines

          5  and two ladder companies assigned to every subway

          6  incident or fire emergency.

          7                 So, you have a whole boat from the

          8  Fire Department showing up.  Every time a phone

          9  alarm comes in, or a pull box is made for subway--

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Again, we're

         11  talking about preparing for God- forbid, Heaven-

         12  forbid, a mass casualty situation.  You said

         13  yourself, there are multiple entrances, multiple

         14  gateways that it could be possible that you may need

         15  to access real quick, and it seems to me the

         16  services are all part of a vital response system,

         17  and we should have universal access.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay thank you,

         19  I don't mean to rush you, they were very important

         20  questions it's just that we have the room until one,

         21  and we want to hear from the MTA and the fire

         22  unions, and so John Liu is going to finish up with

         23  this panel and then we're going to move directly to

         24  the MTA again because we're under a time constraint.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Thank you, councilman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

          4                 Just a very quick question for either

          5  the Fire Department or the Police Department.

          6                 There's been a lot of discussion

          7  about the radio operation inside the subway system.

          8                 What would you say is the current

          9  state of dead spots in the tunnels and the

         10  platforms?

         11                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Well the Fire

         12  Department, we jumped onto this project, and right

         13  now we have concerns with coverage with certain

         14  performance.  Basically it has to do with antenna,

         15  it has to do with cable locations.  Maybe in

         16  emergency exits for example, some of them are quite

         17  a distance above track level. The cable doesn't

         18  extend up to the street level which would lead to a

         19  dead spot.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay so in other

         21  words, the difficulty is communicating with someone

         22   --  the communication between someone on the street

         23  and someone inside the tunnel or platform?

         24                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Somebody located--

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  What about two
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          2  people who are both within the tunnels, or the

          3  tunnels/platforms?

          4                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Again, we do have

          5  breaks in the system and we're trying to address

          6  them the best we can.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.

          8                 MR. ESPOSITO:  The different repeater

          9  systems throughout the tunnels, and we're working on

         10  it right now with, actually, the MTA, and perhaps

         11  Inspector Hall has some additional

         12  information.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Right.

         14                 MR. HALL:  Mr. Chairman, once again

         15  our officers are assigned there every day, so it's

         16  not like they're responding.  The are in the subway

         17  every day.

         18                 The current radios that they use in

         19  my direct talking with officers, there are instances

         20  of some dead spots, but I think if you looked at the

         21  communications system overall, you might see some

         22  dead spots above ground in certain parts of Midtown,

         23  it does happen.

         24                 But by and large, we're much better

         25  off than we were years ago.  The system that we're
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          2  working with right now, transit officers are able to

          3  communicate pretty well.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right, thank

          5  you.  I mean, the reason I ask  --  heads up for the

          6  MTA  -- is because they're still planning to have

          7  computers drive some subway trains using radio

          8  signals.  So, it still is a source of concern.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

         10  Council Member Liu.

         11                 I want to acknowledge some of the

         12  council members who have joined us.  Council Member

         13  Jimmy Vacca from the Fire and Criminal Justice

         14  Services Committee, and Council Member David Yassky

         15  from Brooklyn.

         16                 Thank you gentlemen for your

         17  testimony, and I know that we will continue to

         18  follow up on many of the issues that rise here today

         19  in terms of the coordination of emergency

         20  evacuations in our subway system, and communication

         21  between agencies.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 MR. ESPOSITO:  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Yes, thank you

         25  all for the work you do every day.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, we will

          3  proceed immediately to hearing from officials from

          4  the Metropolitan Transportation Authority, Ken

          5  Brown, Kevin O'Connell and Hilary Ring.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Actually, we do

          7  have more flexibility  --  the hearing originally

          8  scheduled at one o'clock was deferred so, you

          9  gentlemen have the fortune of staying with us a

         10  little longer than one o'clock.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  In that case

         12  Chair Vallone.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I just found

         14  out Alan.

         15                 So, we are going to take a very

         16  short, five minute break gentlemen, I'm sorry.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  This City Council

         18  hearing is resuming.  A joint hearing between the

         19  Public Safety, the Fire and Criminal Justice, and

         20  the Transportation Committee's.

         21                 We've finished the testimony from the

         22  Fire Department, the Police Department, and the

         23  Office of Emergency Management.

         24                 We are now proceeding to testimony

         25  from officials of the Metropolitan Transportation
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          2  Authority.

          3                 At this point I would like to welcome

          4  Ken Brown, Kevin O'Connell, and Hilary Ring, and a

          5  special welcome to Hilary Ring for joining the team

          6  of the MTA.  We look forward to working closely with

          7  you.

          8                 MR. RING:  Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Please proceed.

         10                 MR. RING:  Thank you Council Member

         11  Liu.

         12                 Before I go forward, I just also want

         13  to introduce Mark Bienstock.  Mark is the Program

         14  Manager for Radio Communications for New York City

         15  Transit.  Because even though the hearing  --  we

         16  didn't think was on the topic the police radios,

         17  based on the questioning, I asked Mark to join us

         18  too, so he available to answer questions if you'd

         19  like.

         20                 I have some prepared testimony, which

         21  I'd just like to read before I take your questions.

         22                 Good morning Chairman Liu, Chairman

         23  Vallone and when he comes back, Chairman Martinez,

         24  members of the City Council's Committee's on

         25  Transportation, Public Safety, and Fire and Criminal
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          2  Justice Services.

          3                 I am Hilary Ring, Director of

          4  Government Affairs for the Metropolitan

          5  Transportation Authority.

          6                 I am here today representing MTA

          7  Executive Director, and Chief Executive Officer, Lee

          8  Sander.  I am joined this morning by Kevin

          9  O'Connell, New York City Transit's Chief

         10  Transportation Officer, and Ken Brown, New York City

         11  Transit's Director of Risk Assessment and Fire

         12  Safety, and as I just mentioned, Mark Bienstock.

         13                 As requested by the Council, we're

         14  here to discuss New York City Transit's Emergency

         15  Subway Evacuation Plans, Protocols and Procedures.

         16                 Before responding to the Committee's

         17  questions, I would like to take a few minutes to

         18  provide an overview of why, when, and how New York

         19  City Transit evacuates trains.

         20                 First, let me point out that an

         21  evacuation is not a frequent event during emergency

         22  situations of the New York City Transit subway

         23  system.  In fact, it is an extremely rare occurrence

         24  because it is an option of last resort.  New York

         25  City train crews are instructed and trained to make
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          2  every reasonable effort to get a portion of the

          3  train into a station in order to provide the best

          4  opportunity to safely discharge customers with

          5  minimal exposure to non- customers areas of the

          6  system  However, in instances when this objective

          7  can simply not be accomplished, evacuation becomes a

          8  necessity.

          9                 During an emergency evacuation,

         10  customers a guided from the train to either a bench

         11  wall or to the roadbed to be escorted out of the

         12  system through either an emergency exit or the

         13  nearest subway station.

         14                 Because the bench wall and track

         15  roadbed have inherent dangers associated with their

         16  use, the call for an evacuation from a train is only

         17  made when all other options to move customers to

         18  safety have been exhausted.

         19                 Among the specific instances in which

         20  the need for an emergency evacuation may arise are:

         21  A loss of traction motor power, a fatality on the

         22  track, a derailment or collision which prevents the

         23  train from moving, a fire along the right- of- way

         24  or on board the train that endangers customers, and

         25  other emergencies that might render the train
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          2  incapable of being moved.               I think it's

          3  important to put the number of evacuations in

          4  perspective.  Over the past five years, New York

          5  City Transit ran over three million train trips, or

          6  more than 8,100 train trips on average for every

          7  work day, plus holidays and weekend service.

          8                 During this five year period, there

          9  were 17 incidence's where evacuations were required.

         10    Twelve were due to either fatalities on the track

         11  or power failures where there was no imminent danger

         12  to our customers, and the remaining five incidents

         13  involved trains that were exposed to smoke from

         14  either a fire or an electrical explosion.

         15                 So I know this is an item which,

         16  Councilman Liu, you spoke about before.  So, the

         17  overwhelming majority of evacuations are not when a

         18  customer is in imminent danger.

         19                 Notwithstanding the infrequency of

         20  subway evacuations, given the turmoil and the

         21  uncertainty we face in today's world, let me assure

         22  you that the MTA and New York City Transit, fully

         23  recognize the possibility of emergency circumstances

         24  in our subway system requiring future subway

         25  evacuations looms large.
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          2                 Thus, we certainly appreciate the

          3  interest that you have in exploring this topic.

          4  Moreover, we fully embrace the critical importance

          5  of having well- conceived and well- practiced plans,

          6  protocols, and procedures in place which transit

          7  employers are prepared to execute if the need

          8  arises.

          9                 Accordingly, New York City Transit

         10  has in place Policy Instruction 10.32.3, procedures

         11  for response to rapid transit emergencies, which

         12  provides detailed guidance for transit personnel in

         13  responding to all types of emergencies, including

         14  fires, bomb threats, collisions, derailments,

         15  nuclear- biological chemical incidents, power

         16  failures, and persons under trains. This document

         17  includes specific sections on evacuations.

         18                 The decision to evacuate a train can

         19  be made by the Rail Control Center Desk

         20  Superintendent, the Rapid Transit Operations Senior

         21  Management, the Senior RTO Superintendent at the

         22  site of the incident, the Emergency Response

         23  Officer, this is an RTO superintendent specifically

         24  designated to respond to emergencies on each shift,

         25  the New York Police Department, the New York Fire
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          2  Department, or the train crew, in instances where

          3  they perceive imminent danger.

          4                 In most instances, the decision to

          5  evacuate is based on information that is provided by

          6  the Rail Control Center, by the train crew, and

          7  other operating personnel at the scene of the

          8  incident.

          9                 However, the train crew, the Police

         10  Department, and the Fire Department have the

         11  authority to initiated an immediate evacuation of

         12  the train if they believe that our customers are in

         13  imminent danger.

         14                 The RCC, the Rail Control Center,

         15  takes a lead for New York City Transit in

         16  coordinating the effort because it is in direct

         17  radio contact with train crews, with tower

         18  operators, and operating personnel throughout the

         19  system.  The Rail Control Center has at its

         20  immediate disposal the location of all emergency

         21  exits, of which there are approximately 465,

         22  emergency ventilation fans, and a fire safety cat

         23  system with schematics of the tracks, power grids

         24  and stations throughout the system.

         25                 The Rail Control Center is also in
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          2  communication with the Police Department, the Fire

          3  Department and the Office of Emergency Management.

          4                 As the Rail Control Center receives

          5  additional information about the location of, and

          6  conditions surrounding the stalled trains, it passes

          7  that information on to the New York City Police

          8  Department and Fire Departments.

          9                 In determining the need to evacuate a

         10  train, New York City's primary consideration is the

         11  safety of our customers and train crew.  Again if

         12  any time a train operator or conductor believes that

         13  their passengers are in imminent danger, they're to

         14  notify the Rail Control Center.

         15                 Based on the train crews assessment,

         16  the Rail Control Center has final say as to whether

         17  the power will be removed so an evacuation to the

         18  nearest emergency exit or station can begin.  Before

         19  making this decision one pivotal question must be

         20  answered; is it safer for the passengers to remain

         21  within the relative safety and protection of the

         22  train, or to exit the train to the bench wall or

         23  roadway, and then on to an emergency exit or

         24  station.

         25                 It's worth noting that New York City
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          2  Transit existing train fleet is relatively airtight,

          3  minimizing the entry of smoke from outside the

          4  train.  In addition, train crews are instructed to

          5  shut down the heating/cooling and ventilation system

          6  whenever smoke is encountered in the system so as

          7  not to circulate it throughout the train, thereby

          8  reserving the option of moving customers away from

          9  the source of the smoke, and into other cars.

         10                 The proximity of the train to an

         11  emergency exit or station is also a key factor in

         12  making the determination as to whether or not to

         13  evacuate a train.

         14                 When the Rail Control Center learns

         15  that a train has stopped outside of the station,

         16  formulation of a plan of action to safely remove

         17  passengers begins immediately.  If it's ultimately

         18  determined that an evacuation is needed, as a very

         19  first step, a member of the train crew or another

         20  New York City Transit employee who has been

         21  dispatched to the scene walks the evacuation route

         22  to ensure that there are no obstructions so that a

         23  clear path to safety exists.

         24                 If the evacuation will be made by

         25  emergency exit, the exit hatch will be checked to
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          2  ensure that it can be opened before commencing the

          3  actual evacuation.

          4                 I should note that each emergency

          5  exit is inspected twice a year by the Fire

          6  Department, and six times a year by New York City

          7  Transit personnel.

          8                 New York City Transit if governed by

          9  a citywide protocol with respect to subway

         10  evacuations, and that protocol establishes the Fire

         11  Department as the lead agency.

         12                 In reality, however, the Fire

         13  Department personnel work side- by- side with New

         14  York City Police Department and Transit personnel to

         15  guide and otherwise assist our customers.

         16                 Since approximately 2004, both the

         17  Fire Department and the Police Department have

         18  provided a liaison to the Rail Control Center during

         19  all major emergencies to facilitate coordination

         20  among the agencies.

         21                 The New York Police Department

         22  Transit Bureau has a supervisor assigned to the Rail

         23  Control Center on a daily basis, and the Fire

         24  Department follows a protocol under which they

         25  dispatch a Battalion Chief to the Rail Control
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          2  Center during major emergencies.

          3                 These fire and police liaisons are in

          4  contact with the respective dispatch centers,

          5  operations command centers, and with personnel

          6  assigned to the site of the incident.

          7                 Training for outside agencies is

          8  provided during subway interagency emergency

          9  preparedness exercises that are held on average

         10  twice yearly.  These sessions are conducted in the

         11  subway system, and entail an array of simulated

         12  emergency scenarios.

         13                 You may be interested to know that

         14  New York City Transit has assisted the Fire

         15  Department Training Center with the construction of

         16  a simulated subway tunnel, similar to that used at

         17  New York City Transit's Training facility in Coney

         18  Island.

         19                 In addition, New York City Transit

         20  has assisted the Fire Department in developing

         21  several subway familiarization programs to be used

         22  in conjunction with a subway tunnel training.      The

         23  personnel in the Rail Control Center, who manage

         24  incidents, such as console dispatchers, desk

         25  superintendents, and general superintendents attend
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          2  annual training sessions which focus on managing

          3  emergencies.  This training covers emergency fan

          4  operations, power removal procedures, and

          5  communication procedures.

          6                 In addition, during the course of a

          7  year, Senior Rail Control Center Supervisors

          8  regularly monitor and critique Rail Control Center

          9  staff, and review all major incidents with staff.

         10                 All train operators and conductors

         11  attend a Fire Evacuation Training Course at the

         12  Coney Island Training Center, when they first assume

         13  their positions, and every three years thereafter.

         14  This course covers the operation of portable fire

         15  extinguishers, and methods to minimize customer

         16  panic reactions.              In addition, the

         17  course cover evacuation to the bench wall and

         18  roadbed.  All evacuation training is provided in the

         19  Coney Island Subway Tunnel Simulator which is

         20  equipped with two trains, a track bed, bench wall,

         21  an emergency exit, as well as other equipment that

         22  is available in the field.

         23                 In addition, the Simulator can

         24  introduce theatrical smoke into the tunnel to

         25  provide a realistic atmosphere.  During this
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          2  training employees are taught to provide detailed

          3  descriptions of the conditions on board and

          4  surrounding their train to the Rail Control Center,

          5  and to provide the Rail Control Center with regular

          6  updates as conditions change.

          7                 As a basic approach to emergency

          8  decision- making, train crews are taught that if

          9  imminent danger exists, an evacuation should be

         10  commenced as soon as possible.  But if the existing

         11  conditions allow customers to remain on the train,

         12  their foremost responsibility is to keep passengers

         13  as calm as possible until help arrives.

         14                 Customer communications training is

         15  also provided that emphasizes the critical

         16  importance of regular communications with customers

         17  for the entire duration of an emergency incident.

         18  Trained operators and conductors are trained to make

         19  pubic address announcements within two minutes after

         20  the train stops, and an additional announcement

         21  every five minutes during emergencies.

         22                 If the PA system is not in working

         23  condition, one crew member must walk from car to car

         24  informing customers of the delay.

         25                 While this isn't in my prepared
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          2  testimony, I also want to bring to your attention

          3  the customer education program that we've

          4  implemented regarding transit evacuations.

          5                 We've distributed these brochures.

          6  These are printed in English, Spanish, Chinese,

          7  Russian, Haitian Creole, Korean, Arabic, and Irdu,

          8  and we also have these CD's that are emergency

          9  evacuation videos that have been distributed to

         10  community boards and every police precinct.  This

         11  video is available on our website MTA.INFO, and this

         12  provides a very good overview for customers in terms

         13  of emergency evacuations.  So if any members are

         14  interested in this information, we're happy to

         15  provide them to you for use in your districts.

         16                 Before concluding my remarks, I want

         17  to touch on a concern that's previously been

         18  expressed with respect to New York City's use of

         19  High Exit Entry Turnstiles, HEET's, in the subway

         20  system.

         21                 This concern about the impact of

         22  HEET's on emergency station egress was addressed in

         23  detail in a September 2006 letter from President

         24  Larry Reuter to Chairman Vallone.  We be happy to

         25  provide a copy for anyone who would like one.
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          2                 As the letter indicates, New York

          3  City Transit is convinced that the installation of

          4  additional HEET's in MetroCard vending machines has

          5  served to enhance, rather than reduce, emergency

          6  egress capacity.  As of its allowed part- time

          7  control areas that had previously been closed, and

          8  therefore, wholly unavailable for any ingress or

          9  egress 80 percent of the time, to be open on a 24-

         10  hour basis.  You may recall that in the past when

         11  token booths were closed, the stairs were blocked

         12  off with a gate.  Now with the HEET's, they're

         13  available 24- hours.

         14                 Before embarking on the installation

         15  of HEET's throughout the system, New York City

         16  Transit's Office of System Safety devised criteria

         17  specifically intended to ensure that emergency

         18  egress capacity would not be compromised, including

         19  the consideration of the egress capacity, the

         20  equipment at the Fare Control Areas, the capacity of

         21  the stairway leading to the street from the Fare

         22  Control Areas, and the maximum number of individuals

         23  who would need to be evacuated from the location in

         24  an emergency.

         25                 In a further effort to enhance
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          2  emergency egress capacity, New York City Transit has

          3  recently completed the systemwide installation of

          4  panic bar hardware on exit gates throughout the

          5  system.

          6                 That being said, rest assured that

          7  the MTA will continue to review this issue and all

          8  issues impacting the security of our riders.

          9                 In closing, let me say that MTA New

         10  York City Transit understands that evacuations are

         11  serious business, and we take them very seriously.

         12                 As I believe most of you know, New

         13  York City Transit's overall track record for

         14  emergency response is quite good.  One need only

         15  recall the mass evacuation conducted during the

         16  citywide blackout of August 14th, 2003 to appreciate

         17  that New York City Transit is fully capable of

         18  meeting the unanticipated and complex challenges

         19  that a subway emergency presents.  More than 500

         20  revenue trains were evacuated that day, and all

         21  customers were safely removed within the three hour

         22  period during the peak of the afternoon rush hour.

         23                 Nevertheless, we are constantly

         24  seeking ways to improve.  One key approach that is

         25  employed is to intensively debrief transit personnel
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          2  following emergency incidents with the specific aim

          3  of identifying what worked, what didn't work, and

          4  subsequently instituting changes in any areas where

          5  improvements and procedures can yield an improved

          6  emergency response.

          7                 Thank you for providing a forum for

          8  the discussion of this important topic, and for your

          9  ongoing interest in our public transit system.

         10                 Mr. Brown, Mr. O'Connell, Mr.

         11  Bienstock and I are happy to answer any questions

         12  that you might have.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you

         14  gentlemen, and I want to thank my Chairs for

         15  allowing me to go first.  I have a one o'clock

         16  meeting with the Administration on trans fats, of

         17  all things.

         18                 Mr. Ring, welcome but you're new so

         19  you're going to escape my wrath for the moment.

         20  Although, you did just accurately sum up Mr.

         21  Reuter's letter me.

         22                 Before I run through the time table

         23  which you left out, his explanation must have

         24  mentioned fare beating 87,000 times, and the

         25  public's safety once, and the way the public safety
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          2  was mentioned was exactly how you just summed it up.

          3    "It has allowed part- time egress to areas that

          4  have previously been closed and wholly unavailable

          5  80 percent of the time."

          6                 So the entire rational for these HEET

          7  gates is to prevent fare beating, and because you

          8  have put up these HEET gates, you're saying you've

          9  been allowed to open up stations which were

         10  previously closed, therefore, thereby, allowing more

         11  egress.  A completely, I'll try to put it nicely,

         12  inaccurate statement because if you're saying that

         13  the HEET gates allowed you to open up these stations

         14    --  let me put it another way. The reason the

         15  stations were closed was because you were concerned

         16  about fare beating, and therefore the HEET gates

         17  allowed you to open them up, that's what you're

         18  saying, correct?

         19                 MR. RING:  No, I think that there's--

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  That's exactly

         21  what you're saying but okay, change it around.

         22                 MR. RING:  No, I think there's two

         23  issues with fare abuse.  One issue is, obviously,

         24  the revenue implications, but the more significant

         25  issue with fare evasion is the impact that
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          2  successfully fighting fare evasion--

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Oh please, I am

          4  the Public Safety Chair, I know better than you or

          5  most people in this room the impact stopping fare

          6  beating has on crime.  It's a huge impact, okay.

          7                 The question is, how do you stop the

          8  fare beating?            And you are using the most

          9  dangerous method in the history of transportation

         10  systems in civilized society to do that while there

         11  are other ways to do that.  We can get to the same

         12  goal, stopping fare beating, but we don't need HEET

         13  gates to do it.

         14                 So, let's go back to the question I

         15  asked.  You are saying you can open up these

         16  stations that were previously closed because you

         17  have HEET gates, which would prevent fare beating,

         18  is that correct?

         19                 MR. RING:  Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Yes, wouldn't

         21  there be much safer ways to prevent fare beating?

         22                 They may be more expensive, they may

         23  entail cameras, they may entail MTA officers on

         24  these stations, but wouldn't there be other ways for

         25  you to open up these stations that were previously
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          2  closed without using HEET gates?

          3                 MR. RING:  Well sure, you could do

          4  other things.

          5                 For example, you could have every

          6  token booth staffed all the time, which the policy

          7  decision has been made over the last 15 years that

          8  that's not the policy.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Yes, you have

         10  put money before the lives of our riders.  You just

         11  admitted it.  There are other, perhaps more

         12  expensive ways to allow the same egress that you

         13  were talking about, but you've decided not to do it.

         14    You decided to lock our riders in like third class

         15  citizens on the Titanic to save money and prevent

         16  fare beating.

         17                 You know, when you implemented this

         18  system, however many years ago, perhaps that was an

         19  appropriate way of thinking, but after 9/11 it is

         20  inexcusable to continue to allow any evacuation to

         21  have to run through a HEET gate, which will at best

         22  allow one person to go through at the same time.

         23                 So, we've now completely thrown out

         24  the one rationalization for HEET gates, which was it

         25  allowed egress at stations that were previously
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          2  closed because the one public safety rational that

          3  these things existed for, it's gone.

          4                 Let me run through, and again Mr.

          5  Ring, you're just a spokesperson, you weren't

          6  involved in this, but Mr. Brown, Director of Risk

          7  Management and Fire Safety, I am glad you're here.

          8  I wrote letters, many, many letters, and some of

          9  them  -- with my esteemed Co-chair, John Liu, and

         10  others regarding HEET gates.  The latest letter we

         11  wrote together was April 7th of`05, and we stated

         12  that they have violated every Fire Code since people

         13  got together in civilized society, and I received a

         14  letter back from Katie Lapp, then the Executive

         15  Director, in which I quote, "we are exempt from the

         16  Local Laws, such as the New York City Building and

         17  Fire Codes, however, we are subject to the New York

         18  State Uniform Fire Prevention and Building Code.

         19  There are state trained and certified Code

         20  Compliance Officers to assure that construction and

         21  alteration projects comply with the pertinent

         22  provisions of the State Code.  We consult with State

         23  Code officials as necessary to assure that the

         24  projects comply with applicable code provisions."

         25                 So we received that letter.  A few
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          2  months after that, I learned from a TV station that

          3  you've embarked on a program of actually unlocking

          4  emergency gates, very nice.  You would think that

          5  that would be a bare minimum that any system would

          6  have, emergency gates, but you didn't.  You had

          7  locked emergency gates, and you stated to put panic

          8  bars on them after our letter, without telling us.

          9  But probably the most disturbing thing is on October

         10  21st, a few months after our letter, you then

         11  petitioned the Department of State for a variance

         12  because these HEET gates turned out to violate, at

         13  least, nine provisions of the State Fire Code, after

         14  Katie Lapp's letter to me saying everything was

         15  fine, don't even bother yourself about it, we've got

         16  fire code people checking everything we do.

         17            You ran to the Department of State,

         18  illegally by the way, because it was a secret

         19  hearing and it should have been a public hearing.

         20  The only way you can have a secret hearing is on a

         21  routine matter, and if anyone  --  to classify the

         22  safety of millions of subway riders as routine would

         23  be pathetic, but that's actually what happened.

         24                 So, let me run you through three of

         25  the violations that exist that HEET gates violate.
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          2  Number one, revolving doors need to be capable of

          3  collapsing into a book- fold position, HEET gates do

          4  not.  Number two, the Code requires that every

          5  revolving door have a side- hinge swinging door in

          6  the same wall within ten feet of the revolving door.

          7    You do not.  And the third, and there's many but

          8  these are the most easily explainable, revolving

          9  doors are only allowed to account for 50 percent of

         10  the required exit, and in your case they account for

         11  100 percent.

         12                 So what happened here is that you

         13  installed HEET gates, and we've got the Risk and

         14  Fire Safety Officer here, and I want to hear from

         15  you.  You install HEET gates that any 12- year old

         16  would know violated the Fire Code of the City and of

         17  the State, but you decided to do that anyway.

         18                 Who made that decision, and how did

         19  it happen?

         20                 MR. BROWN:  First of all, HEET's and

         21  HXT's have been installed in the system, they have

         22  been available in the system since the inception of

         23  the system.  So, they have always been here.  It's

         24  always been a part of this system.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Sorry, what's
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          2  always been a part of the system?

          3                 MR. BROWN:  HXT's, the high

          4  turnstiles.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I'm not sure

          6  that's true. I don't remember them from when I was

          7  younger but it's true they certainly didn't exist to

          8  the extent they have now, but okay, they've existed

          9  for some time now in violation of the Fire Codes.

         10                 MR. BROWN:  Okay, we found paperwork

         11  leading back to when the system was built back in

         12  the early 1900's stating the high entry and high

         13  exit turnstiles were available.

         14                 The new HEET's that we have, which

         15  now allow people to enter the system as well as exit

         16  the system, have allowed us to remove some high

         17  entry turnstiles that did not allow egress, it

         18  simply only allowed people to enter the system. So,

         19  by replacing those HEET's what we've done is

         20  enhanced the egress at those stations because now in

         21  addition to people entering the system, they can

         22  also exit the system.

         23                 With respect to--

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  We've been

         25  through that. The question is they violated the
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          2  Codes, and especially as it relates to newer ones,

          3  which were installed after 2001, there was knowledge

          4  that they violated the Codes, it should have been is

          5  you have Risk Protection Officers who are in charge

          6  of looking at State Codes, there should have been

          7  knowledge that they violated the Codes, and yet you

          8  did it without seeking any approval.  You thought it

          9  was a good idea to install gates that trapped our

         10  riders in order to prevent fare beating.

         11                 In New York City we try to actually

         12  comply with laws, and I know Albany is a little

         13  different, but who makes that decision, and who is

         14  responsible for deciding that you could violate City

         15  and State laws and put up these HEET gates,

         16  especially the newer ones, not the ones from the

         17  1700's, the newer ones.

         18                 MR. BROWN:  Well, I guess I would

         19  disagree that we're violating the Codes.  The Codes

         20  are simply a guide.  There are other ways to get

         21  around what the Code says, and one of the things

         22  that we did is we installed gates which had  --

         23  could be release remotely with panic hardware, which

         24  also in the event of a power failure the gate would

         25  open, and also those gates had `talkbacks' so if
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          2  anybody was at the gate and they needed to get out,

          3  they could speak to either the agent in the full-

          4  time booth, or they could speak to the Rail Command

          5  Center.  While those things were installed, we've

          6  had a number of incidents and every one of those

          7  incidents, the people in the token booth responded

          8  properly, and released the gate and allowed the

          9  gates to provide additional capacity.  The HEET's do

         10  provide capacity, people can exit through those

         11  HEET's.  In addition, the gates are available and

         12  the gates are released to allow additional people to

         13  exit the system.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  All right, the

         15  entire system you just described violates the Fire

         16  Codes.  Apparently you have no excuse or explanation

         17  for that.

         18                 You also explained a system that was

         19  in place prior to Chairman Liu's and my letter,

         20  where you had locked emergency gates, which you had

         21  to actually require permission to exit from the

         22  booth operator who may or may not be there because

         23  of the emergency, a fire, an attack, then you had to

         24  hope that the electrical system worked, and then you

         25  got permission to exit through an emergency gate.
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          2  Theaters aren't allowed to lock emergency gates to

          3  prevent people from sneaking in but you thought you

          4  were allowed to lock your emergency gates to prevent

          5  fare beating.  Okay, you've apparently had an

          6  epiphany on that and started to put panic bars on

          7  emergency gates.

          8                 You didn't answer my question, I

          9  don't expect that you would.

         10                 What could be the worst part about

         11  this is that I've read that you intend to install

         12  more HEET gates.

         13                 Is that correct?

         14                 MR. BROWN:  I'm not specifically

         15  aware of that but where the need arises we continue

         16  to use the HEET, in addition to the use of the panic

         17  gates.  It's not just one system, it's not just a

         18  HEET.  There are other devices out there.  There are

         19  gates out there that right now have panic hardware,

         20  where anybody can walk up, press the gate, and exit

         21  the system.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Only after we

         23  wrote you a letter, that's the only  --  and just

         24  within the last year or so. By the way, is that

         25  program complete of putting panic bars on all the
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          2  exit gate?  Because it was supposed to be by now.

          3                 MR. BROWN:  Yes, over 1,300 of them

          4  have been installed, there is still roughly 37

          5  locations where gates still need to be installed.

          6  Some of those stations are currently under rehab,

          7  and there's a few other issues that have to be

          8  straightened out, but over 1,300 gates, panic gates,

          9  have been installed throughout the system.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay so despite

         11  the fact that you say they may or may not violate,

         12  you did go to the Department of State for a variance

         13  from the laws that exist.  You did receive that

         14  variance, I contend illegally, and by the way, the

         15  Department of State has ignored our letters for well

         16  over six months now.  It has given us no response at

         17  all, it's a pathetic agency.  That's criminal

         18  negligence.  Criminal negligence to secretly approve

         19  these deathtraps in our subways, and then not

         20  respond to the Legislature responsible for

         21  protecting the lives of the subway riders.  Criminal

         22  negligence, and they have not heard the last from

         23  me.  I assume there's a new person in there now, I

         24  will be finding out.

         25                 I can go so long on this, but
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          2  obviously, you're not going to answer any of the

          3  questions.

          4                 So right now, you can't answer

          5  whether or not you intend to put more of these HEET

          6  gates up or not?

          7                 MR. BROWN:  I can't say specifically,

          8  no.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Do you know of

         10  anywhere else, other than possibly Chicago, where

         11  these type floor- to ceiling gates exist?

         12                 MR. BROWN:  They're installed in

         13  other locations, yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Where would

         15  that be?

         16                 MR. BROWN:  I don't want to say

         17  specifically, just so I don't speak incorrectly, but

         18  I know there are a number of locations, and other

         19  transit authority's that have these types of devices

         20  used.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay because

         22  most of the ones I've been on, L.A., D.C., you know,

         23  they are on honor systems, and they have just

         24  regular turnstiles but they don't have these HEET

         25  gates.
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          2                 Again, my Chairs have let me go

          3  first, and I don't want to abuse the privilege, but

          4  I believe the continued existence of these HEET

          5  gates in this day and age is inexcusable, and that

          6  by continuing to make stopping fare beating a

          7  priority, not the safety of our riders, you are

          8  putting a price on the lives of our citizens, and

          9  that is completely inexcusable.  It needs to stop,

         10  and I know you have a new head of your agency who

         11  I've scheduled meetings with, I've spoken to Michael

         12  Balboni.  I have a meeting with him in the next few

         13  weeks regarding this issue alone.  He has made

         14  statements regarding HEET gates in which he seems to

         15  agree with our position here.

         16                 So, we look forward to the day where

         17  you actually have some oversight over your

         18  completely irresponsible agency, and actually start

         19  putting the lives of our riders first and not the

         20  prevention of fare beating.

         21                 In fact, I agree with you as you

         22  know, preventing fare beating is important, there

         23  are other ways to do it.  Other perhaps more

         24  expensive ways, but ways that put the safety of our

         25  passengers first, not stopping fare beating.
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          2                 Thank you again, Co-chairs for

          3  allowing me to go first.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Chairman

          5  Vallone for you ongoing vigilance on this issue, and

          6  as we had conducted a hearing about two years ago,

          7  this is an issue that we, this Committee, certainly

          8  hopes that the new administration at the MTA will

          9  take note of, that this ongoing effort to automate

         10  various parts of the system, including the entryways

         11  to the platforms, the constant bean- counting that

         12  balances the need for safety versus the need for

         13  cost cutting.

         14                 The HEET's are not the only place

         15  that this balance has taken place, much to our

         16  consternation, and so, we will continue to look at

         17  this and perhaps there will be some, if not a change

         18  in direction, at least more of a thoughtful balance

         19  being made at the MTA.

         20                 I'd like to ask you some questions

         21  about  --  as I said earlier, I appreciate your

         22  coming Hilary, I know you've been on the job for a

         23  sum total of ten days now I think, and so welcome to

         24  the City Council, and I appreciate your very

         25  thoughtful and complete testimony.
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          2                 Now part of your testimony talks

          3  about how the decision for evacuation of a train

          4  takes place.  That's an awful lot of entities and

          5  people that can make the decision, and while you

          6  could argue that because so many people have the

          7  authority to make that decision to evacuate a train,

          8  the problem with that is that when you have that

          9  many people with that ability, doesn't that dilute

         10  the chain of command, the decision- making process,

         11  when so many people could make the call to evacuate

         12  the train?

         13                 MR. RING:  No, I don't think so at

         14  all.  I mean, the majority of the people that were

         15  listed there all reside in the Rail Control Center,

         16  which is the heart of the transit system.  Those

         17  personnel reside in there, and that's typically

         18  where the decision is coordinated, is through the

         19  Rail Control Center but at the same time, the Police

         20  Department and the Fire Department, and our train

         21  crews who are actually on the scene, if they feel

         22  there is imminent danger, we would certainly want

         23  them to be able to make that decision, and they have

         24  that authority.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, well that's
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          2  an important clarification.

          3                 So it's really the people who are

          4  running the Rail Control Center that have the

          5  jurisdiction to call for the evacuation.

          6                 MR. RING:  That's correct, in

          7  addition to the Fire Department and Police

          8  Department, and people on the scene.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, but you

         10  realize the Police Department disavowed any

         11  authority to call for an evacuation of a subway

         12  train.  They said that Transit has that authority.

         13                 MR. RING:  I don't believe that's

         14  true.  I think they said  --  what they said is if a

         15  police officer on the scene felt that there was

         16  imminent danger, he would commence an evacuation.

         17  He wouldn't contact the Rail Control Center--

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  No, I don't think

         19  he said that.  An individual police officer can call

         20  for the evacuation of a subway train?

         21                 MR. BROWN:  If there's imminent

         22  danger.  The important thing is imminent danger.  If

         23  we have a train with people on it that just simply

         24  need to get off, then certainly, we wouldn't allow a

         25  police officer to make that decision.  But if the
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          2  people are in imminent danger, a fire department

          3  member, a police department member, or the train

          4  crew can make that decision.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well as rare as

          6  evacuations are, I mean, I think that kind of

          7  scenario where it would be so clearcut that an

          8  individual uniformed officer would go to the length

          9  of evacuating an entire subway train, that has to be

         10    -- that probably has never happened before.

         11                 So, let's get back to a little bit of

         12  the reality here.  There is a decision- making

         13  process.  Unless a police officer could  --  just

         14  like the hero we had who leaped to the tracks to

         15  save someone who had experienced seizures, I mean,

         16  unless there was some kind of obvious hazard that

         17  was going to crash into the train or whatever, and

         18  the police officer had to make a split- second

         19  decision, which is just  --  that's just like not,

         20  it's never happened before.  But there is a chain of

         21  command, and the chain of command is what we're

         22  talking about. We're not talking about instances

         23  where individual people, whether it be it a police

         24  officer or even someone who's not a member of the

         25  police force, but decides to tell everyone to get
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          2  off the train.  Obviously that happens, but with

          3  regard to the procedures on paper, the procedures

          4  that should be understood by everybody, including

          5  the Transit Authority, the Rail Control Center,

          6  people at the Fire Department, the Police

          7  Department, the OEM, there's got to be someone who

          8  makes that decision.  The Police Department

          9  basically stated it's Transit's decision.

         10                 MR. RING:  Mr. Liu, let me clarify

         11  that for everybody.

         12                 There really is only one decision-

         13  making  -- there is a decision- making process which

         14  puts the Rail Control Center in charge of that

         15  responsibility.  They're in charge of it for many

         16  reasons.  They're in charge of it for getting the

         17  right people to the scene, for coordinating power

         18  removal, and for giving the crew specific

         19  instructions.  In almost every single case I can

         20  think of that I've been involved in, it's the Rail

         21  Control Center that makes that decision, while

         22  individuals who see a burning train or a building on

         23  fire, are not going to wait to, in some cases, it

         24  may not wait to get permission to go save a life,

         25  they'll do it.  Ordinarily our procedures are very
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          2  clearly defined on who's responsible for doing it,

          3  and how it's to be done.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, so who called

          5  for the evacuation on August 16th?

          6                 MR. RING:  The evacuation on August

          7  16th was called for by the Fire Department because

          8  they felt there was imminent danger to the customers

          9  on the train.  So, they felt they needed to get the

         10  customers off the train as quickly as possible.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So whenever there's

         12  this imminent danger, the Fire Department can go

         13  ahead and make that decision, even in the absence of

         14  full information from the MTA, New York City

         15  Transit?

         16                 MR. RING:  The key is imminent

         17  danger.  If they feel there is imminent danger,

         18  which is what Chief Esposito I believe just told

         19  you, and which is what he told me when we discussed

         20  the incident, yes, he can make that decision.  He

         21  weighs the risk versus the reward.  In this case he

         22  felt the risk was low, and the reward was to get

         23  these people out of what he felt was a very smoky

         24  condition.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, now let's
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          2  talk a little bit about the communications between

          3  the  --  first of all, you're aware of that State

          4  Transportation Safety Board?

          5                 MR. RING:  Yes, we are.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Would you agree

          7  with the Fire Chief's characterization that it's

          8  garbage?

          9                 MR. RING:  I would say that we

         10  disagree with some of the conclusions that they

         11  arrived at.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, it states in

         13  that report that there was an extensive delay,

         14  several minutes in this kind of scenario, they

         15  considered extensive delay, between the first

         16  identification of the track fire and the

         17  communications with the Fire Department.

         18                 Is that accurate?  Do you agree with

         19  that?

         20                 MR. RING:  I disagree with that.

         21  Just to take you through it.  The train operator saw

         22  the fire, he notified the Rail Control Center, the

         23  Rail Control Center within a minute I believe,

         24  picked up  --  we have a direct line to the Fire

         25  Department, Borough Dispatcher, the Brooklyn Borough
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          2  Dispatcher, and reported that there was a fire north

          3  of DeKalb Avenue, a heavy smoke condition.  So, that

          4  happened within minutes, and the Fire Department was

          5  on the scene within minutes because the Fire

          6  Department responded from Tillery Street, which is

          7  just blocks away from the scene of the incident.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right, so I

          9  mean, you're right, it was within minutes.  I think

         10  the Transportation Safety Board would say that the

         11  number of minutes was too long, and in fact, what

         12  about when the Fire Department made the decision to

         13  evacuate the train?  At that point, had there been

         14  complete communications between the Rail Control

         15  Center and the Fire Department?

         16                 MR. RING:  The Fire Department

         17  dispatcher, which is the primary way that they

         18  communicate, our Command Center speaks to the Fire

         19  Department dispatcher, and the Fire Department

         20  dispatcher will speak to the people on the scene

         21  until we're able to get a liaison to the scene.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, did they call

         23  for the  -- did the Fire Department call for the

         24  evacuation before there was this full communications

         25  with Transit Authority?
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          2                 MR. RING:  There was ongoing

          3  communication between the Fire Department

          4  dispatcher, and the Rail Control Center.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And the people on

          6  the scene.

          7                 MR. RING:  And the people on the

          8  scene, that they were trying to move the train--

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  But the people who

         10  have the complete information are the ones in the

         11  Rail Control Center.

         12                 So my question is simply, did the

         13  Fire Department have communications with the Rail

         14  Control Center before they made the call to evacuate

         15  the train?

         16                 MR. RING:  The Fire Department and

         17  the Rail Control Center were communicating, yes,

         18  before they made the decision to evacuate the train.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, the Rail

         20  Control Center understood that the power was still

         21  on, and that the Fire Department was going to go

         22  ahead anyway to evacuate the passengers?

         23                 MR. RING:  No, you didn't  --  the

         24  Fire

         25  Department  --  we found out that the train was
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          2  going to be evacuated when a train operator on that

          3  train called the Rail Control Center, and said that

          4  the Fire Department was evacuating the train.

          5  That's how we found out.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, so then  --

          7  that's not what you just said before.

          8                 MR. RING:  That is what I--

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  No, no, that not

         10  what you just said before.  I asked you very simply,

         11  was the Fire Department in full communications with

         12  the Rail Control Center?

         13                 The Rail Control Center is more

         14  authoritative than the motormen on the scene.  No

         15  disrespect to the person driving the train, but the

         16  Rail Control Center has all this authority that

         17  Transit Authority  --  that the MTA gives them.  So,

         18  you're telling me now that, well no, the Rail

         19  Control Center heard through the motorman that the

         20  Fire Department had called for the evacuation.

         21                 Which is it?  I mean the Rail Control

         22  Center has the authority to call for an evacuation.

         23  In the case that there is a danger to life, an

         24  imminent danger to life, the Fire Department can go

         25  ahead and make that call.
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          2                 All I am asking is, was there

          3  communication between the Fire Department and the

          4  Rail Control Center before the call for evacuation

          5  took place?

          6                 MR. RING:  That's what I'm trying to

          7  explain to you, is that the Rail Control Center

          8  communicated with the Fire Department dispatcher,

          9  and they were in the process of trying to move the

         10  train back out of the smoke, away from the fire.

         11                 In the meantime, someone on the scene

         12  made the decision that the people on the train were

         13  in imminent danger, and decided to evacuate the

         14  train.

         15                 So yes, we were communicating.  I

         16  listened to the calls between their dispatcher and

         17  our Control Center, but they never told us that they

         18  were planning on evacuating the train. We found that

         19  out by talking to the train operator.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, so the Fire

         21  Department did not notify the people running the

         22  train system that they were going to evacuate the

         23  train?

         24                 MR. RING:  That is correct, and Chief

         25  Esposito admitted it, that that was the case but
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          2  because they felt there was imminent danger, they

          3  needed to get the people off of the train as quickly

          4  as possible.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, and know  --

          6  but the Transportation Safety Board found that  --

          7  there's a huge issue with that.  There's a problem

          8  with that.

          9                 Would MTA New York City Transit agree

         10  that it would have been a better idea if the Rail

         11  Control Center, ie: New York City Transit, had been

         12  officially notified that the evacuation was going to

         13  take place, rather than find out about it after the

         14  fact?

         15                 MR. RING:  We would always prefer to

         16  know so that we could remove power, but if they feel

         17  there is imminent danger, and that there isn't time

         18  to make that notification, they have every right to

         19  make that decision.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  But why would it

         21  take any time to make that notification?  I mean,

         22  you were already in communication with each other.

         23                 MR. RING:  Because they call their

         24  dispatcher, their dispatcher calls our Rail Control

         25  Center.

                                                            149

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE, TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  No, see the problem

          3  is that you just said that the Rail Control Center

          4  and the Fire Department were already in touch with

          5  each other.

          6                 I mean, do we have cowboys out there

          7  just calling for evacuations of trains without going

          8  through the channels? We're not talking about a lot

          9  of time that  --  you know, we don't have to call a

         10  conference for this kind of stuff.  Someone should

         11  be able to get on the radio, and within seconds the

         12  Fire Department lets the Rail Control Center know

         13  that,`hey, we're about to evacuate this train.'

         14                 MR. RING:  The Fire Department and

         15  Transit Authority don't communicate via radio, they

         16  communicate through their dispatch centers.  That's

         17  the protocol that's been established.  The people on

         18  the scene call their dispatcher, their dispatcher

         19  calls our Rail Control Center people.  That's the

         20  protocol that's been established.

         21                 So that takes time, there's time  --

         22  if the Chief felt that  --  I don't want to speak

         23  for the Chief but he said it was imminent danger, he

         24  didn't want to wait any time.  He didn't want to

         25  wait five minutes, five seconds.  He wanted to get
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          2  the people immediately off the train.  That's their

          3  call.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, now you know,

          5  I am certainly not indicting the Fire Department in

          6  any way on this. I think that when there's this

          7  critical need to communicate with 4,000 people in

          8  question, it goes both ways, and if the Rail Control

          9  Center  --  I would expect that the Rail Control

         10  Center would have instant communications because at

         11  this point, about 20 minutes have elapsed before the

         12  evacuation call took place.

         13                 So, at that point, you would expect

         14  to have instant communications between the people in

         15  charge at Transit and the people in charge at the

         16  Fire Department.  This only supports our

         17  understanding of the Transportation Safety Board's

         18  conclusion that people were unnecessarily put at

         19  risk in the way that this evacuation took place

         20  because there was this lack of coordination, lack of

         21  communication between the two key agencies here.

         22  The people running the trains, and the people

         23  responsible for saving lives.

         24                 Do you not agree with that part of

         25  the report?
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          2                 MR. RING:  I don't agree with that at

          3  all.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, how can there

          5  be a lack of communications when there's a fire on

          6  the track, and there's an evacuation taking place,

          7  and the two agencies most responsible haven't been

          8  communicating?  You don't see any problem in that?

          9                 MR. RING:  I just said they had been

         10  communicating.  They were communicating about moving

         11  the train to get it out of the smoke, to get the

         12  people away from the smoke. But then, the Fire

         13  Department on the scene decided to abandon that

         14  idea, and then they decided the best course of

         15  action was to evacuate the train.  We were

         16  communicating.  We continued to communicate after

         17  that, but they felt that they  needed to make that

         18  decision prior to notifying us.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, let me defer

         20  to my co chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you

         22  Council Member John Liu.

         23                 I just want to follow up on the line

         24  of questioning in terms of the change of command and

         25  communication because we heard specifically from the
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          2  Commander, and it seems to me from the line of

          3  questioning from Council Member Liu, that there

          4  seems to be a gap between the communication in terms

          5  of what's happening downstairs and what's happening

          6  upstairs with the fire official who are actually at

          7  the scene, and the communication with the MTA, in

          8  terms of procedure.

          9                 When we hear the Commander, the

         10  Chief, speak about that they're the one responsible,

         11  and you're also acknowledging that it is the Fire

         12  Department, the one that should be in charge, or is

         13  in charge, and you're acknowledging that their the

         14  ones responsible, for addressing any emergency

         15  evacuation, correct?

         16                 MR. RING:  Correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Then on the

         18  other hand, we also have the Police Department

         19  saying that there are instances where they are the

         20  ones that are the one in command of the operation of

         21  any evacuations that are taking place in the system.Is

         22  that a contradiction?

         23                 MR. RING:  No, I think what the

         24  police said  --  I know what the police said is that

         25  if there's a terrorist incident, police are in
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          2  charge of all terrorist incidents.  If, as part of

          3  that terrorist incident, there's an evacuation

          4  component that's a life safety issue, the Fire

          5  Department would handle that.  But since it's a

          6  terrorist incident, the Police Department are in

          7  charge, and CIMS which is the Citywide Incident

          8  Management System, calls for unified command which

          9   --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Do you adhere

         11  to CIMS?

         12                 MR. RING:  Of course, yes.  We have

         13  over 1,000 people who have been trained in various

         14  aspects of CIMS, or actually NIMS, which is the

         15  National Incident Management System, which is the

         16  basis for CIMS.  But the incident command post which

         17  it the key to any incident, that's where

         18  representatives from Transit, representatives from

         19  Police, Fire, EMS, OEM are all together, and when a

         20  decision is made, it's not simply not one person

         21  making that decision.  They base it on the

         22  information that the collective group bring

         23  together.

         24                 So, even though the Fire Department

         25  is in charge of an evacuation, they're basing that
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          2  on information that they receive from all of the

          3  other agencies.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  But if a

          5  police officer as Chief Hall mentioned, that a

          6  police officer could make the determination to

          7  evacuate, do you adhere to that order or that

          8  command of a police officer saying that this train

          9  needs to be evacuated now?

         10                 Or do you need to hear from the Fire

         11  Department before that happens?

         12                 MR. RING:  No, if the police officers

         13  felt--

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Other than a

         15  terrorist attack when he mentioned the safety or

         16  crime incident?

         17                 MR. RING:  When we say that a police

         18  officer has the authority to do that, that's if the

         19  police officer is the only person on the scene.  If

         20  he was on the scene with his supervisors, and again,

         21  I don't really want to speak for the emergency

         22  response agencies, but when they're  --  I guess,

         23  supervisors on the scene, there's a chain of

         24  command, and that's also a key element of CIMS.

         25  There is a chain of command, and the information
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          2  flows up to the decision- makers who are at the

          3  Incident Command Post.

          4                 Now, a Fire Department officer, a

          5  Police officer, wouldn't make that decision on his

          6  own if there's an incident command post going.  That

          7  would be discussed at the Incident Command Post

          8  level.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  What's the

         10  level of training that the personnel, the MTA

         11  personnel, in terms of the conductor or the

         12  operator, what level of training do they get for an

         13  emergency evacuation?

         14                 MR. RING:  They attend what we call

         15  Fire and Passenger Evacuation Training down at our

         16  Coney Island training center.  We have a Simulated

         17  Train Tunnel.  It has two trains, it has tracks, has

         18  a bench wall, emergency exit, has all of the

         19  equipment that you would find in the subway system.

         20  They go through an eight- hour training class that

         21  discusses how to control passengers, how to evacuate

         22  the passengers, that type of thing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Is there any

         24  coordination between the Fire Department and the

         25  Police Department, and your personnel in terms of
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          2  doing collaborative training?

          3                 MR. RING:  Well, when they do that

          4  training, no, that's simply Transit Authority

          5  employees, but we do conduct interagency emergency

          6  preparedness exercises every year, which involve all

          7  of the agencies, and during those type of incidents,

          8  those types of exercises, we're all working

          9  together.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  But these

         11  trainings only happen once a year you are saying?

         12                 MR. RING:  Well, we do four drills a

         13  year.  Two subway drills, we do a bus drill, and we

         14  do a drill over on the Staten Island Railway.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Is the Police

         16  and Fire Department involved in those trainings?

         17                 MR. RING:  Yes, they're interagency

         18  involving all of the agencies within the City.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So do you have

         20  a contingency plan in terms of, do you have a

         21  written down plan as what to do and what happens in

         22  case of the incidents that may occur in terms of the

         23  evacuations?

         24                 MR. RING:  Yes, we have a--

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Blackouts,
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          2  terrorist attacks, smoke and so forth, these things

          3  written?

          4                 MR. RING:  Yes, we have a Policy

          5  Instruction, which was referenced before, 10.32.3,

          6  in response to Rapid Transit Emergencies, and it

          7  basically covers all types of incidents which could

          8  occur within the subway system.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Do you share

         10  these with both Fire Department and Police

         11  Department?

         12                 MR. RING:  Yes, they had them and as

         13  a matter of fact, they reviewed them prior to them

         14  being signed off.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I want to go

         16  back to the issue of the keys for a second.

         17                 Before you mentioned that there are

         18  37 stations that don't have the panic button yet?

         19                 MR. RING:  Not 37 stations, there are

         20  roughly 37 gates that are fare control areas that--

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I'm sorry, you

         22  said stations or cases?

         23                 MR. RING:  Not stations, fare control

         24  areas.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Okay, that do
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          2  not have panic buttons?

          3                 MR. RING:  That is correct.  Some of

          4  those are fare control areas that are under

          5  construction, others go through private buildings

          6  where the lease agreement states that after hours,

          7  that the stairway has to be locked down, so we don't

          8  have people go into those.  We're trying to work

          9  through those lease agreements.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  When you do

         11  your inspections, you mentioned the MTA itself

         12  conducted inspections of the emergency exits and so

         13  forth, do you do this with the Fire Department that

         14  also does inspections or put is this way, when the

         15  Fire Department goes out to do their, I think it's

         16  once a year that the Chief mentioned--

         17                 MR. RING:  Twice a year.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: -- excuse me?

         19                 MR. RING:  Twice a year they do the

         20  inspections.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Twice a year

         22  that they do their inspections, do they do it with

         23  one of your personnel, or they just go out there and

         24  then they report to you what they found wrong, or

         25  violations that they found?
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          2                 MR. RING:  Okay, well first let me

          3  clarify.

          4                 The emergency exits are not within

          5  stations. Typically the emergency exits are between

          6  stations, so they're not looking at the station

          7  stairs.  They actually do an inspection of the

          8  emergency exit, which is between stations.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Correct, but

         10  when they do the inspection of the exits, do your

         11  personnel--

         12                 MR. RING:  I just wanted to clarify

         13  that that's not within a station.

         14                 So twice a year, the Fire Department

         15  goes out on their own, the companies that, which the

         16  emergency exit is within their responding area,

         17  respond to the exit so they accomplish two things.

         18  One, they do familiarization with where those exits

         19  are, and also they go through and verify that

         20  lighting is proper, that the hatch opens, and then

         21  what they do is they fill out a report, and they

         22  send that through the Public Transportation Safety

         23  Unit, which Captain Wyman (phonetic) was here, and

         24  then he forwards them to our office and we see that

         25  they're fixed.
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          2                 In addition to that, our employees go

          3  out six times a year.  So roughly that's eight times

          4  a year the emergency exits are inspected.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  The radio

          6  systems that are utilized by your conductors and by

          7   --  because you also have what they call the

          8  walkie-talkie system also, right, in the MTA?

          9                 MR. RING:  That's correct.  The

         10  conductors and train operators have radios.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Do you have

         12  access to the frequency for emergency responders in

         13  those radios?

         14                 MR. RING:  No.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  No?  Why not?

         16                 MR. RING:  Well I mean, primarily, we

         17  want the train crews to communicate with the Rail

         18  Control Center.  I don't know that we would want the

         19  train crew communicating with the Fire Department

         20  because now you get out of that command and control

         21   --  that chain of command.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So does the

         23  main station have access to the communication?

         24                 In other words, what I am trying to

         25  get is that the Chief of Police, the Chief of the
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          2  Department of Police that was there, not Chief Hall,

          3  mentioned that for EMS, for Fire, and for the Police

          4  Department, only top level ranks have access to the

          5  communication when there's an emergency taking

          6  place, not everybody has access to that channel.

          7                 So, I would think that the MTA should

          8  be connected to that channel when there is an

          9  emergency taking place in the system.

         10                 MR. RING:  We do not have access to

         11  the Fire Department or Police in our radio

         12  frequencies.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So then, how

         14  does your personnel know how to respond or react, or

         15  do?  They just follow the instruction of the Police

         16  Department?

         17                 MR. RING:  No, our personnel on the

         18  scene are in contact with the Rail Command Center

         19  via their radios.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  But you're

         21  Command Center is not communicating with the Fire or

         22  the Police Department.

         23                 MR. RING:  No, that's not true.  We

         24  do.  We have liaisons, we have a Fire Department

         25  liaison who responds to the Command Center, and we
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          2  have a police --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  But you're not

          4  communicating directly.  Your Command Center is not

          5  communicating directly?

          6                 MR. RING:  Well, the liaison is

          7  standing right next to the person in the Rail

          8  Control Center who's managing the incident.

          9                 So even though we may not be

         10  communicating directly, we're standing right next to

         11  a representative from the Police or Fire Department

         12  who can communicate directly to the Incident

         13  Commander on the scene.  Plus, we communicate via

         14  the six- wire to the police 911 system, and we have

         15  direct connect lines to communicate with the

         16  appropriate Fire Department borough dispatch

         17  offices.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  There is no

         19  direct communications?  You communicate through a

         20  liaison?

         21                 MR. RING:  We communicate through the

         22  liaison, that is correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  You know what

         24  happens usually when I tell you something, and you

         25  tell somebody else something, and somebody else
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          2  tells somebody else something?  You know what

          3  happens in that line of communication?

          4                 It seems to me that when you have a

          5  large- scale emergency or evacuation, at least

          6  someone in the Command Center, just as they

          7  specifically described the fact that not every

          8  firefighter, not every EMS worker, not every police

          9  officer is on that channel, but only the top ranking

         10  officers, I think, that in this case the top ranking

         11  officer to me will constitute for the MTA someone in

         12  the Command Center that has control of the

         13  situation, and is monitoring the situation, rather

         14  than having a third  --  being communicated through

         15  a third person.

         16                 I think that in terms of

         17  communication, communicating directly to the

         18  situation as to what's happening, I think it

         19  critical and important.  Not only for yourself but

         20  also for your personnel who is also down there, and

         21  is being part of an operation of evacuation, seems

         22  to me.

         23                 Do you coordinate with the Training

         24  Center?  I know you said you have your own.  Do you

         25  coordinate with the Training Center in Randall's
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          2  Island that was mentioned by the Chief?

          3                 MR. RING:  Yes, in fact, when the

          4  Training Center

          5  was built, obviously Transit Authority provided them

          6  with trains, they provided them with the track,

          7  basically they provided them with all the equipment

          8  that's in there, and then we work with their

          9  training people to develop some training programs

         10  which when the units go through the Tunnel Training

         11  Simulator, they also get a familiarization or an

         12  orientation class.

         13                 In fact, I sat in on a number of the

         14  classes and they talk about how to respond to fires,

         15  how to respond to people under the train, how to

         16  respond to derailments, and they talked about the

         17  protocols on getting power removed, and then

         18  returning power, and those types of things.

         19                 So, we work very closely with the

         20  Fire Department. In fact, I speak to someone from

         21  the Fire Department typically once a day, sometimes

         22  more than once.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Do you have an

         24  opinion on the new, I want to say technology, but

         25  the new equipment that they're bringing on board
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          2  with the push carts to move either passengers or

          3  heavy equipment.

          4                 Have you taken a look at that, have

          5  you made an evaluation of that?  Does it work in

          6  your system?  Does it work on your rail?

          7                 MR. RING:  Yes, it fits our rail, and

          8  in fact, my office worked with the Fire Department

          9  in developing that.

         10                 I mean, we have some concerns to make

         11  sure that when it is deployed that we are notified

         12  so that we can ensure that power is off.  But we've

         13  worked very closely with them with regard to that

         14  project.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Finally,

         16  before I turn it over to my Co-chair, the ultimate

         17  decision, we heard this over and over again, and I

         18  think it's a big subject of disagreement between

         19  what the State Commission put forward, and what

         20  actually took place according to the Chief and the

         21  Fire Department, and I believe yourself, in terms of

         22  the third rail.

         23                 Who makes the ultimate decision to

         24  turn off the third rail?

         25                 MR. RING:  That's made by the Rail
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          2  Control Center.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  By the Control

          4  Center?

          5                 MR. RING:  That's correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Whom in the

          7  Control Center?

          8                 MR. RING:  The Superintendent in

          9  charge of that division.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So, it would

         11  be that persons ultimate decision to turn off the

         12  third rail?

         13                 MR. RING:  Yes, the person that's

         14  managing the situation, he's responsible for taking

         15  care of power operations.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Okay, so then,

         17  that person that's taking control would be informed

         18  as to what's happening via the third person that

         19  communicates what's happening down there?

         20                 MR. RING:  That person in the Rail

         21  Control Center is communicating with, not only the

         22  people in the field, but he's responsible of

         23  communicating directly with the Fire Department

         24  Borough Dispatcher.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  But how is he
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          2  communicating with the Fire Department directly when

          3  he doesn't have access to the frequency in terms of

          4  what's going on?  You just mentioned that there was

          5  a third person.

          6                 MR. RING:  Our policies of procedure

          7  don't require us to communicate directly from the

          8  Control Center to the incident commander in the

          9  field.  We do it through the--

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  A liaison.

         11                 MR. RING:  No, Sir.  We did it

         12  through the Borough Fire Dispatcher.

         13                 We make a request, they make requests

         14  from us, and we make requests from them.  It's all

         15  done over the Borough Dispatcher, through the

         16  Borough Dispatcher.  It's a relay system. It's just

         17  us talking to them, and them talking to the person

         18  in the field.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Got you.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 I will turn it back to Chairman Liu.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, thank

         23  you very much.

         24                 It also becomes increasing obvious

         25  that the Rail Control Center is still, during this
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          2  entire time, trying to figure out how to back the

          3  train up.  That's why the power hasn't been shut

          4  off, even though there's a fire on the track, and

          5  presumably it's getting bigger because all of a

          6  sudden the Fire Department then comes to the

          7  realization that peoples lives are in danger.  This

          8  entire time the power has remained on the third

          9  rail, and the reason for that is because on the

         10  MTA's side the Rail Control Center is still thinking

         11  of backing the train out.               So, the

         12  problem then becomes why was there this long delay?

         13  Why did it take so much time to begin and to execute

         14  the process of backing the train up.  According to

         15  the Transportation Safety Board, their conclusion is

         16  that it was because the Rail Control Center could

         17  not communicate with the train driver.  That

         18  initially, the train driver was using a radio that

         19  was on a different frequency than what the Rail

         20  Control Center was using.

         21                 I take it you don't agree with that

         22  part of the report?

         23                 MR. BROWN:  No, that's not accurate

         24  at all.  The train operator although--

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  It's not
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          2  accurate that that's what the report says, or the

          3  report is not accurate?

          4                 MR. BROWN:  What's not accurate is

          5  that the train operator was not communicating on a

          6  different frequency than the Rail Control Center.

          7                 There were some communication issues,

          8  there was a lot of radio chatter, but the train

          9  operator was able to get through to the Command

         10  Center, the Command Center and the train operator

         11  were communicating.  He was directed to change ends

         12   -- to move a train back, it's not just a simple

         13  matter of putting it in reverse.  The train operator

         14  has to change ends.  Now, you have to keep in mind

         15  that this was a rush hour train, basically full of

         16  customers.  So, he has to make his way through, I

         17  forget if it was eight or ten cars, to the other

         18  end, and while he's trying to make his way through,

         19  he's encountering Fire Department personnel on the

         20  train.  They're grabbing him, they're asking him

         21  questions.  So, he ended up being delayed from

         22  getting to the other end, but it is just not as

         23  simple as just putting the train in reverse and

         24  backing it out.  We have to make sure that there's

         25  not traffic behind it so that we don't create a
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          2  collision.  But those are decisions that the Rail

          3  Control Center --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, that's

          5  information that the Rail Control Center

          6  instantaneously has.  I can understand you saying

          7  that during rush hour it takes time for a person to

          8  get from one end of the train to the other.  But it

          9  doesn't take any time to ascertain that there is no

         10  train behind the other train.

         11                 MR. RING:  I think that maybe what

         12  might be helpful if you want is for Kevin to talk a

         13  little bit about the Rail Control Center because the

         14  New York City Transit System is still a very complex

         15  system that the communication that you think, I

         16  think you're saying is instantaneous, I think in

         17  reality is not as instantaneous.  There's a lot of

         18  procedures.  There's a lot of information that you

         19  have to find out.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right, so for

         21   -- correct me if my timeline is wrong.  It's more

         22  than 20 minutes from the point where the evacuation

         23  takes place  --  from when the fire is identified,

         24  and when the evacuation takes place. It's about like

         25  24 minutes, something like that.
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          2                 MR. BROWN:  No, it was actually less

          3  than  -- just under 20 minutes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, just under 20

          5  minutes. I mean, is that  --  and all this time

          6  nothing has been done to address the fire itself?

          7  So, it is getting worse.

          8                 MR. BROWN:  You have to remember, the

          9  fire is located nine- hundred feet into the tunnel.

         10  The train is roughly two car lengths in.  So, about

         11  120 feet in the tunnel.

         12                 Immediately after the incident  --

         13  the train operator identified that there was smoke,

         14  he began to move his customers out of the first car,

         15  back in the train, and again, since it was a rush

         16  hour train, it's not that easy a thing to do. But

         17  the train operator shut off the air comfort system

         18  in the train to prevent smoke from entering the

         19  train, he began to move the people, as many as he

         20  could back away from the train that was in smoke.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We don't question

         22  what the train operator was doing, and he or she was

         23  in all likelihood doing the right thing in terms of

         24  moving people to where they needed to move.

         25                 The question remains that there are
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          2  concerns about the ability for the MTA to

          3  communicate, not only with the other agencies, in

          4  this case the Fire Department and the Police

          5  Department, but also internally between the train

          6   --  the people on the train and the Rail Control

          7  Center, and as was highlighted back in our October

          8  hearing, the ability of the MTA to communicate with

          9  its own passengers, and the public at large.       That

         10  was by far the biggest complaint about what happened

         11  in August of 2006 that it wasn't that anybody was in

         12  actual danger, but that they had no idea what was

         13  going on, and that they felt that they were in heavy

         14  danger.

         15                 Let me move on to Council Member

         16  Mealy's questions, and then I think we'll let you

         17  guys off the hook.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Good

         19  afternoon. Congratulations also.  Glad to see you,

         20  the last meeting we had, the MTA didn't show up.  I

         21  am glad to see you here today.

         22                 I just have a few questions.  Could

         23  you explain what personnel was supposed to be

         24  informed first?  I kind of know the system, it went

         25  through to the tower operator first, and then it
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          2  went through to the operator to the dispatcher, and

          3  then to the Command Center to inform who would make

          4  that decision on turning off the third rail?

          5                 MR. RING:  I'm sure exactly what it

          6  is you are asking.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  With the

          8  procedure on who will make that final decision once

          9  the train operator finds out there is a fire on the

         10  train, who do they call?

         11                 MR. RING:  The train operator  --

         12  Kevin do you want to?

         13                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Yes, in this

         14  particular case, it was a train that was going in

         15  the opposite direction, it was coming out of

         16  Brooklyn that reported the smoke condition.

         17  Immediately the Control Center, once being notified,

         18  stopped trains in both directions, ordered all

         19  towers to halt trains in both directions, anybody

         20  from entering the AD tracks on the Manhattan Bridge.

         21

         22                 At that point, Fire Department was

         23  notified of the smoke condition and--

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Who notified

         25  the Fire Department?
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          2                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The desk

          3  superintendent, the superintendent in the Rail

          4  Control Center.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Wait a minute,

          6  and that's another thing, is the Rail Control Center

          7  is still employed by MTA or its an outside--

          8                 MR. O'CONNELL:  No, it belongs to New

          9  York City Transit.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Okay, okay,

         11  it's like the Command Center.

         12                 MR. RING:  Yes, exactly, just a

         13  different location, bigger and more beautiful.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Okay, thank

         15  you for the clarification on that.

         16                 Okay, after he called--

         17                 MR. O'CONNELL:  After the employee

         18  called the first one, he was directed to`wrong-

         19  rail' his train back to Pacific Street, which he

         20  did.  The following trains  --  so all service was

         21  held in the northerly direction going towards

         22  Manhattan, and at that point, all service was held

         23  southbound but the last controlling point we have is

         24  West Fourth Street, so there were two trains already

         25  in the pipeline heading south to go over the bridge.
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          2                 MR. RING:  That's the point that

          3  Councilman Liu was talking about.  There's certain

          4  places in the system because of the way the signal

          5  system works, where you know that you pass a point,

          6  for example, West Fourth Street, and you don't know

          7  exactly where the trains are until they show up at a

          8  tower.  So that there are gaps where you have the

          9  running time where the train is going, and that's

         10  what we're working to fix in terms of our new

         11  technology that we're implementing at the Rail

         12  Control Center.  But as far as the system is

         13  currently designed, and designed in the 1900's, it

         14  runs on power so once you pass West Fourth Street in

         15  this instance, until you get to another tower, the

         16  Rail Control Center doesn't know exactly where that

         17  train is, and that's why when you want to back up a

         18  train, it's very important to know what's coming

         19  behind you.  Sometimes it takes a while to figure

         20  that out.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Okay, so who

         22  is responsible for communicating with the passengers

         23  during an emergency or evaluation (sic)?

         24                 MR. O'CONNELL:  The train crew.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  The train
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          2  crew?  What are they telling the passengers?

          3                 MR. O'CONNELL:  In this particular

          4  case, they were told that the train is not going to

          5  go forward, it's going to go back, and then we're

          6  going to try to move as many people as possible away

          7  from the fire and smoke condition, while the

          8  operator makes his way back to the opposite end of

          9  the train to pull it out of the smoke.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Okay, so those

         11  employees do not get training on fire--

         12                 MR. BROWN:  Oh yes, they do.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  They do?

         14                 MR. BROWN:  Oh yes, every Rapid

         15  Transit Train Operators, Conductors, and Dispatchers

         16  and Supervisors and Managers all get panic  --  fire

         17  training and panic control.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Do you recall

         19  when the new CO Lee Sanders, he went around just

         20  introducing himself and he went to a tower operator,

         21  and she said she didn't know what she was doing.

         22  She wasn't trained on this--

         23                 MR. O'CONNELL:  She was a dispatcher,

         24  and she was commenting on the new type of training,

         25  the R160, and she was referring to a specific
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          2  function, a door enabler, and she was misguided in

          3  the sense that we don't train our terminal train

          4  dispatchers on the operation of trains.  If a crew

          5  member or train operator or conductor has a question

          6  about a function or how a train should operate, we

          7  get them in touch with a train service supervisor,

          8  someone trained specifically to provide that sort of

          9  guidance and training.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Okay, I must

         11  ask, after you do all this analysis training, who do

         12  you sent this information to for, I guess,

         13  educational purposes, after you do the training?

         14                 MR. O'CONNELL:  Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Do you send it

         16  somewhere else for educational purposes, or do you

         17  do a movie on it for the next employees coming in,

         18  in regards to evaluation training, do you--

         19                 MR. O'CONNELL:  On this particular

         20  incident?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  No, not just

         22  on this one, in training in general, evacuation

         23  training.

         24                 MR. RING:  The training is conducted

         25  live every time it's provided.  So all new

                                                            178

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE, TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  employees, all new train operators, that Mr.

          3  O'Connell spoke about, they all go through an actual

          4  training class, and then they come back three years

          5  later for a refresher, and they go through the same

          6  class again.  So they don't view a video, they take

          7  the actual training.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Do you have an

          9  outside vendor evaluating how you are training

         10  administrative to the employees?

         11                 MR. RING:  Not that I'm aware of.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Do you think

         13  you should?              How do you know it's really

         14  effective?

         15                 MR. RING:  I would say that, based on

         16  my time with the Transit Authority, and seeing how

         17  well our train crews have performed, and again in

         18  this particular incident, the train crews did an

         19  outstanding job.  I have to base that on their

         20  training.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  But a lot of

         22  time had lapsed in between.

         23                 MR. RING:  Excuse me?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  A lot of time

         25  lapsed in between because of certain things somebody
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          2  had to make a decision, Sir, maybe the training,

          3  something is wrong with the training.  Why not have

          4  an outside evaluation of your training?

          5                 MR. BROWN:  It's something we could

          6  consider, sure.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  And just to go

          8  to the HEET's, and this is my last question.

          9                 You said that, Mr. Brown, you said

         10  that it's really you all put money before safety,

         11  what about the jobs, aren't you taking away jobs

         12  that these HEET systems when you put them up?  Some

         13  HEET systems have no one there, it's all by itself,

         14  you just swipe or put a token in.  Are you taking

         15  away jobs for the City?  Or you feel it's just a

         16  safety issue  --  it is a safety issue, we know

         17  that, right?

         18                 MR. BROWN:  We feel that what we've

         19  done is safe.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  The HEET

         21  system?

         22                 MR. BROWN:  Not just the HEET, the

         23  HEET in addition to the gates that have been

         24  provided.  It's an entire system.  You have to look

         25  at the entire egress system, it includes HEET's, it
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          2  includes gates, and so yes  --  and also how we've

          3  hardened the system to prevent fires and that type

          4  of thing, and the type of training we provide.  We

          5  feel all that goes into what makes the system safe,

          6  and yes, we do feel the system is safe.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Well I must

          8  say it's not because some places just have the HEET

          9  system there, and it's deserted, and if an incident

         10  does happen, there's really no one there that they

         11  can call out to.

         12                 So, it has to be a real safety issue

         13  that you all should address, and even with the

         14  evaluation, I just heard that you said about 32 more

         15  systems  --  you're going to put a door next to it.

         16  About 32 have not been upgraded?

         17                 MR. BROWN:  There's roughly 37

         18  locations that haven't been upgraded yet.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Thirty- seven?

         20                 MR. BROWN:  Some of those stations

         21  are under construction, so during the construction

         22  or the rehabilitation, under rehabilitation.  So

         23  during the rehabilitation, the gates will be

         24  provided, and then there's a handful of locations

         25  which at some point during the day, they exit into a
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          2  private building, and the building locks  --  closes

          3  down at some point during the day, so we don't have

          4  people exit into that area because then they would

          5  be trapped in that building.

          6                 Again, we're trying to work through

          7  those issues, through looking through the lease

          8  agreements with those building owners.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Okay, thank

         10  you.

         11                 MR. BROWN:  You're welcome.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         13  Member Mealy, and I want to thank you gentlemen for

         14  joining us today. It's been  --  I know you've been

         15  here for quite a long time, and I once again look

         16  forward to working with you Hilary and everybody

         17  else at the MTA.

         18                 MR. RING:  Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

         20                 We have two more panels remaining.

         21                 First let me call up officials from

         22  Transit Workers Union, Local 100, William Wyatt, and

         23  Kendra Hill, and they will be followed by Patrick

         24  Bahnken of the Uniformed EMT's and Paramedics of the

         25  FDNY, and then followed by a member of the public,
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          2  Holly Fuchs Ferguson.

          3                 Mr. Wyatt and Ms. Hill, please

          4  proceed when you're ready.

          5                 MS. HILL:  Kendra Hill, good

          6  afternoon everybody.

          7                 I am Kendra Hill the Station Agent,

          8  and a member of the Transport Workers Union, Local

          9  100, Executive Board.  With me is William Wyatt,

         10  TWU, Local 100, Chair for Conductors and Tower

         11  Operators.

         12                 We speak on behalf of the 35,000

         13  member of Transport Workers Union, Local 100, who

         14  keep New York moving. This is a major issue for

         15  Local 100 members.  When emergencies occur on the

         16  subway, other members are the uniformed personnel on

         17  the spot, even before first responders arrive.

         18                 We have spoken on safety in the

         19  subways, but we hope this time it will be different.

         20                 In the past every time we spoke about

         21  the need for greater safety training, MTA management

         22  wanted to know "What's our angle?"

         23                 Or angle is to stay alive and to keep

         24  our passengers alive.

         25                 It got to the point that if the Union

                                                            183

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE, TRANSPORTATION, PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  said one and one is two, the MTA accused us of

          3  playing politics.

          4                 For the record, one and one really is

          5  two, and we really need more emergency training.

          6                 In the past we have heard

          7  representatives of the Authority testify before this

          8  Body that emergency evacuation plans for the system

          9  do exist.

         10                 Maybe they do, but our members are

         11  not trained in the context of such plans.  Our

         12  training is the same rudimentary training that it

         13  was before September 11.

         14                 If more developed plans exist, then

         15  they must be based on the presumption that the plans

         16  will carry themselves out without transit workers

         17  because we are not trained in them.

         18                 Even in the best of circumstances,

         19  people who know what the plan is can carry it out

         20  better than people who have been kept in the dark.

         21  Imagine a football team in which only the

         22  quarterback knew the play.  No matter how well we

         23  train the other players may be in the basics of

         24  football, if they don't know the play they are not

         25  going to be able to execute it well.  That's been
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          2  Team MTA until now.

          3                 But evacuations rarely take place in

          4  the best of circumstances.  Communications are a

          5  chronic problem in our system, and are prone to

          6  break down when the system is stressed by unexpected

          7  events.  When that happens, everything hinges on the

          8  training our members have received.

          9                 The Federal government recommends

         10  that railroad workers retain frequently to remain

         11  current in fire and evacuation procedures.  New York

         12  City Transit has had difficulty fulfilling that

         13  mandate.

         14                 At one time the Authority seemed to

         15  feel that the initial training when one came on the

         16  job was enough.  Then periodic retraining was

         17  introduced.  But some key categories of personnel

         18  were excluded from retraining, Conductors, for

         19  example. This Committee and the Union repeatedly

         20  urged the TA to include conductors, and the TA did

         21  begin to include training for Conductors, but at the

         22  same time they reduced the number of Train Operators

         23  and Station Agents going through training.  It seems

         24  that they robbed Peter to pay Paul.

         25                 In 2005, the last year for which we
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          2  have figures, some 396 Station Agents went through

          3  training.  That is a little more than ten percent of

          4  Station Agents.  That is not an adequate rate of

          5  retraining.

          6                 We can all understand that the TA

          7  wants to save money, but let me suggest that holding

          8  back on retraining would be penny- wise but pound-

          9  foolish.  Mishandling a single evacuation could cost

         10  the TA as much as several years of annual retraining

         11  for Train Operators, Conductors and Station Agents.

         12                 We think that annual retraining is a

         13  reasonable goal for those employees most likely to

         14  be called upon in an emergency:  Train Operators,

         15  Conductors, Station Agents and Cleaners.  Certainly

         16  a little over ten percent per year is not a

         17  reasonable rate.

         18                 We also think that if these employees

         19  are to perform in the context of a plan, they should

         20  have some training in what that entails, let alone

         21  input into it.

         22                 I said at the start that this hearing

         23  might be different.  Every transit worker looks at

         24  the new leadership of the MTA with the hope that we

         25  will be listened to instead of ignored, talked with
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          2  instead of yelled at, treated as partners, not as

          3  problem.

          4                 I am glad that talks about this

          5  important issue have already started between the

          6  leaders of our Union and the new leadership of the

          7  MTA.  We look forward to more joint safety training.

          8                 Like I said, our angle is to get

          9  eight million people a day where they have to go,

         10  and bring them all back home safe, and get home safe

         11  to our families.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very

         13  much, Ms. Hill.

         14                 Mr. Wyatt, are you here to testify?

         15                 MR. WYATT:  No.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Or to answer

         17  questions?

         18                 MR. WYATT:  Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay great.  So

         20  once again, the MTA officials testified that every

         21  worker gets the emergency training at least once

         22  every three years.

         23                      Any comment about that?  Is that

         24  happening?

         25                 MR. WYATT:  It is about once every
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          2  three years. They have the refresher for Conductors

          3  and the Train Operators. But mostly about the

          4  refresher of the work that we do is not  -- as far

          5  as the evacuations are concerned.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right, so in

          7  other words, you do get the training but it's not on

          8  the evacuation and the emergency procedures?

          9                 MR. WYATT:  No, it's not.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right, well

         11  that  -- thank you very much.

         12                 So we clearly need to do a lot more

         13  talking with the new leadership of the MTA to make

         14  sure that, in fact, the workers are being trained,

         15  your members are being trained, and therefore,

         16  people in the public are kept safe.

         17                 MS. HILL:  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right, thank

         19  you very much for being with us all today, and we

         20  look forward to working with you.

         21                 MS. HILL:  Thank you, and have a

         22  great day.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

         24                 At this point, we are joined by

         25  Patrick Bahnken, the head of the Uniformed EMT's and
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          2  Paramedics of the FDNY.

          3                 Good afternoon, Mr. Bahnken.

          4                 MR. BAHNKEN:  Good afternoon, Mr.

          5  Chair, Chairman Liu, Chairman Martinez, Chairman

          6  Vallone.

          7                 I do not have a written statement

          8  today.  I have some very brief remarks about some of

          9  the comments that were made here earlier.

         10                 I believe it was Chairman Martinez

         11  started talking about the game of telephone when we

         12  were children.  You know, you tell one guy, and as

         13  it passes up the line, the information gets

         14  corrupted, or the original message is nothing like

         15  what you hear at the end of the line.  This really

         16  speaks to the question of interoperability.

         17                 I keep hearing at various City

         18  Council hearings on the communications issue,

         19  whether it's below ground, above ground, mass

         20  casualty incidents or day- to- day.  It would seem

         21  that the concept of interoperability, nobody seems

         22  to understand the concept is that information should

         23  be shared with all personnel at all ranks.

         24                 On September 11th, a majority of our

         25  high ranking personnel were wiped out when the
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          2  buildings fell.  I heard today, the Inspector from

          3  the Police Department said that we do not want a

          4  system where everybody will just key up and start

          5  talking over one another.  It's an incredibly stupid

          6  statement from somebody so high ranking in the

          7  Department.  It doesn't happen.

          8                 For decades, the Emergency Medical

          9  Service had the capability to communicate on all

         10  police division radio frequencies.  We just didn't

         11  key up and talk about, "Hey, you want to order me a

         12  ham sandwich, or who do you like in the Super Bowl?"

         13    We listened.  The only time we keyed up and

         14  communicated was when we saw something that was, we

         15  believed, was an emergency that other responders

         16  should know about.

         17                 The concept here in the Fire

         18  Department, you know I heard one of the Fire Chiefs

         19  say that if there was a below ground incident, that

         20  EMS would respond and that there would be an Engine

         21  Company, a Ladder Company and a Battalion Chief.

         22  Doesn't happen, it's not true.  It happens very

         23  rarely.

         24                 You see you don't have calls that

         25  come into the 911 system where the average John. Q.
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          2  Public will pick up a phone and say, "There's a

          3  terrorist attack occurring below ground." Doesn't

          4  happen that way.

          5                 The true scenario, how it would

          6  happen, and this is based upon what happened in

          7  Tokyo during the Sarin gas attacks with the Aum

          8  Shinrikyo Cult that the first call came in and said,

          9   "You know, we've got a couple of people who are

         10  sick."  And a few more calls came in and said, "You

         11  know, we've got sick passengers down here."  People

         12  at the Dispatch Center assumed that it was just

         13  three or four callers calling about the same four or

         14  five passengers, not realizing that they were

         15  talking about additional passengers.  The first

         16  responders went down there and they were little more

         17  than canaries in a coal mine.  There was no ability

         18  to communicate.

         19                 The way this system is set up today,

         20  in EMS I would not have an EMS Chief Officer on

         21  scene, and you've heard people say it today, until

         22  about 20 minutes into an event. Twenty minutes is a

         23  long time.  Some examples, well holding your breath

         24  for 20 minutes is certainly out.  Try hopping on one

         25  foot for 20 minutes.  Try running on a Stairmaster
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          2  for 20 minutes. Twenty minutes is a really long

          3  time, and in a rapidly evolving mass casualty

          4  incident, 20 minutes  --  I guess the question is

          5  when the Chiefs' finally do arrive, and you finally

          6  have the ability to talk to one another, do you

          7  spend the next 20 minutes trying to put the manure

          8  back into the horse?

          9                 How do you unscrew a screwed up

         10  scene, because there's no exchange of information in

         11  live time right there.  I can't hear what the cops

         12  are talking about.  They could be saying, "Don't go

         13  down that tunnel, we have an explosive devise." And

         14  by the time that gets to the police dispatcher, and

         15  that gets to the 911 center, and it gets over to my

         16  dispatcher, and gets back to me or to my partner

         17  who's hopefully upstairs because our radios don't

         18  communicate below ground, by the time that

         19  information gets to me, I'm standing next to the

         20  devise, and maybe an hour or two later my wife gets

         21  a knock on the door from the Chaplain and a high

         22  ranking officer saying that I'm not coming home.

         23  It's ridiculous.

         24                 There's no logical reason, and I

         25  would challenge any person on a communications level
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          2  to come here and argue with me, debate with me, the

          3  logical reason why you should not have the ability

          4  to communicate at all ranks, all the way up.  It

          5  comes down to two things.  Testosterone and

          6  territorialism. Everybody wants to be in control of

          7  their own little private thiefdom here, and it is

          8  absolutely ridiculous. There's no sound, logical

          9  reason that I should not be able to communicate live

         10  time on a constant basis with a police officer. He

         11  may share information with me that saves my life.  I

         12  may share information with him that saves his life,

         13  and together, we may share information that saves

         14  the lives of everybody in this Chamber.   But it

         15  doesn't occur because everybody wants to hold onto

         16  their own little principality.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, I think it was

         18  one of the Chiefs who said that if everybody was on

         19  the same channel, or the same radio system, there

         20  would just be too much chatter, that you couldn't

         21  hear what was going on.

         22                 MR. BAHNKEN:  We're not a bunch of

         23  old wash women talking about what the weather's

         24  like.  When I'm on the scene, and I'm listening to a

         25  radio, I'm monitoring the frequency.  The only time
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          2  I'm keying up to talk is when I have something real

          3  important to say, otherwise, I'm listening for

          4  information that's going to help me do what I need

          5  to do.  That's going to help me go home at the end

          6  of my tour to my wife and child.  I'm not just

          7  getting on the scene and talking because I have

          8  nothing better to do.  I'm going to be busy treating

          9  patients.  But what I'm going to want to listen for

         10  is wind direction, where is the threat? How evolved

         11  is the threat?  What type of threat is it?  Is it an

         12  agent, a chemical agent, a biological agent?  Is it

         13  an explosion, is it a fire?  What is the wind

         14  current?  Where is it coming from?  Have they put on

         15  the exhaust fans?  Is the third rail off?          These

         16  are little bits of information that I need to know,

         17  and in the time  --  I mean, you just heard the MTA

         18  say that they don't talk to the Fire Department.

         19                 So, we've spent $160 million on

         20  communications systems and nobody can talk to

         21  anybody.  For $160 million we could have went out

         22  and bought a whole bunch of tin cups and a bunch of

         23  string, and had pretty much the same system right

         24  now.           It takes very little  --  take every

         25  EMS portable handie-talkie, and every firefighter
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          2  handie-talkie, send the to radio repair in a

          3  rotation, and inside of three months, we could have

          4  the ability to communicate directly with every

          5  police officer in the field, if the need arose.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right, thank

          7  you Mr. Bahnken.

          8                 MR. BAHNKEN:  Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thanks for spending

         10  the day with us.

         11                 MR. BAHNKEN:  It was a pleasure.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.

         13                 Our final witness for today is Holly

         14  Fuchs Ferguson.  Please join us at the witness

         15  table, and thank you for joining this hearing.

         16                 MS. FUCHS FERGUSON:  Good afternoon

         17  everybody.

         18                 MTA communications is really about

         19  ineffective management, use of training as a carrot

         20  and punishment technique, and jealous guard over who

         21  talks to whom.

         22                 Because of its traditionally active

         23  role in fire prevention and firefighter support,

         24  Brooklyn Community Board 8 is given month fire

         25  statistics for Brooklyn Community Boards, and we
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          2  share them.

          3                 In 2006, Brooklyn had 15,000 fires.

          4  The FDNY has not given us a train emergency or fire

          5  breakdowns, although we all want them and need them.

          6

          7                 I am asking this Body to get a guided

          8  walk- through of the Transit Authority's DeKalb

          9  Tower.  This tower was involved in the 2006 August

         10  train fire on the Manhattan Bridge, and in the 2005

         11  September Franklin Avenue Shuttle derailment.

         12                 Both incidents showed really poor

         13  transit communications.  This Body needs to get and

         14  to review the straightforward January 2006 MTA

         15  report on the Franklin Avenue Shuttle derailment.

         16  It shows FDNY on the spot, only because a fire

         17  station actually saw the derailment.  FDNY notified

         18  Transit, the operator on his third train accident,

         19  could not talk to his tower because he was

         20  responsible for charging his own radio.  He had not

         21  charged it, and it was dead.

         22                 Ladies and gentlemen, the January

         23  2006 MTA report on the September 7th, 2005 Franklin

         24  Avenue Shuttle derailment outlines problems in

         25  Transit communications and in evaluation correction
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          2  refreshment training, and even separation procedures

          3  for decision- makers, be they Operators, Tower

          4  Supervisors or whatever.

          5                 A hidden message may be that many

          6  daily small emergencies require on-the-spot

          7  emergency decisions.  There are many unsung heroes.

          8  Another is the MTA is not comfortable with sharing.

          9                 Communication becomes key with

         10  derailments, fire and other serious incidents.

         11                 Why communication improvements are

         12  sloughed off by Transit, possibly playing the`my

         13  thing is bigger than your thing' game, or even

         14  giving million dollar lip service by NYPD, FDNY is

         15  scary.

         16                 It is for we, the public, to hope for

         17  improvement but it is for you, the selected Body, to

         18  address and hopefully inspire effective corrective

         19  action.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 MS. FUCHS FERGUSON:  May I make one

         24  statement about training?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yes please, yes.
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          2                 MS. FUCHS FERGUSON:  I am sure that

          3  the training is intended only in the best possible

          4  way, but the Operator who was responsible for this

          5  derailment, and it was his third accident, and he

          6  still had a job, and he still has a job today. He

          7  had just graduated from his refreshment training one

          8  week prior to the derailment.  What he did, is he

          9  was going to fast, and he overshot a track.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you for your

         11  continuing participation in what we do here.

         12                 MS. FUCHS FERGUSON:  Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  There being no

         15  other witnesses, this joint hearing of the City

         16  Council's Committee's on Public Safety, Fire and

         17  Criminal Justice's and Transportation is adjourned.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 2:01 p.m.)
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